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Thru: The Deputy Secretary

As required by the Chief Financial Officers Act of 1990, | respectfully
submit the Office of Inspector General ( OIG ) report on the Federal
Aviation Administration (FAA) Financial Statement as of
September 30, 1996. The Fiscal Year ( FY ) 1996 financial statement
package includes the Management Overview, Principal Statements,
related notes, and Supplemental Financial and Management Information.

The report on the FAA Financial Statement audit is the responsibility of
the OIG. All other information in the financial statement package such
as the Management Overview, Principal statements, related notes, and
Supplemental Financial and Management Information are the responsibility
of FAA. Our audit was limited to the Statement of Financial Position as
of September 30, 1996.

If 1 can answer any questions or be of any further assistance, please
call me on x61959 or Alexis M. Stefani on x60500.
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Objectives

The objectives for our audit of the Federal Aviation Administration's (FAA) Fiscal
Year (FY) 1996 Financial Statement were to (1) determine whether the Statement
of Financial Position presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of FAA in accordance with Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Bulletin
No. 94-01; (2) determine whether FAA has in place an internal accounting and
administrative control structure that provides reasonable assurance of achieving
established internal control objectives; (3) determine whether FAA has complied
with the laws and regulations which (a) could have a direct and material effect on
the financial statements or (b) have been specified by OMB; (4) assess whether
the information and manner of presentation in the Overview and Supplemental
Financia and Management Information sections of the financial statement
package are materially consistent with the information in the Statement of
Financial Position; and (5) assess control risk relative to the policies and
procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that FAA is achieving its
internal accounting and administrative control objectives regarding the existence
and compl eteness assertions for performance measures.

Conclusions

We were unable to express an opinion on the Statement of Financial Position
because of six material internal control weaknesses and two reportable conditions.
For Operating Materials and Supplies and Property and Equipment reported on
the Statement of Financia Position at a total of $9.3 billion (representing
51 percent of FAA's total assets), there were inadequacies in supporting
documentation and unreconciled discrepancies between general ledger balances
maintained in the Departmental Accounting and Financial Information System
and FAA's subsidiary records. In addition, equipment purchase transactions were
inappropriately expensed and should have been capitalized. Furthermore, FAA
did not have adequate controlsin place to () ensure consistency between
financia statements and budgetary reports in reporting budget execution results
and (b) prevent recording of invalid liabilities.
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As aresult of these documentation and capitalization problems, the scope of our
work was not sufficient to enable us to express, and we do not express, an opinion
on the Statement of Financial Position as of September 30, 1996. Except for
compliance issues discussed in the internal control deficiencies and the absence of
performance measures, FAA complied in al material respects with laws and
regulations directly affecting the Statement of Financial Position. Since we
disclaimed an opinion on the Statement of Financial Position, we were unable to
accomplish our fourth objective stated above.

Monetary | mpact

Specific monetary savings were not identified for the material weaknesses and
reportable conditions. However, correcting the internal control weaknesses will
help ensure accuracy, timeliness, and reliability of FAA financia information.

Recommendations

We made recommendations to FAA to strengthen internal controls and establish
the correctness of FAA financial statement balances for Operating Materials and
Supplies, Capitalization of Equipment Purchase Costs, Property and Equipment,
the Work-in-Process Account, Budget and Financia Statement Report
Reconciliations, Accounts Payable Liabilities, Yearend Accrued Liabilities, and
Capital Leases and Leasehold Improvements.

Management Position

FAA concurred with 34 of 35 recommendations and has initiated or plans
corrective actions.
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Office of Inspector General Comments

Corrective actions taken or planned are responsive to the 34 recommendations.
We asked FAA to reconsider their position on their nonconcurrence with our
recommendation to review prior transactions to identify equipment purchases that
were improperly expensed.




TABLE OF CONTENTS

TRANSMITTAL MEMORANDUM
SYNOPSIS
SECTION I: AUDIT REPORT

Inspector General’s Opinion on Financial
SEALEMIBNTS ..o 1-2

Consistency of Other Information ... 1-3

Inspector General’s Report on Internal Control
SETUCTULE ... et e et e et e e e et e eaaaes 1-3

Inspector General's Report on Compliance with

Laws and RegulationS ..o 1-41
Prior AUIT COVEIAgE ....coovviiiiiiii ittt 1-42
Attachment - FAA'S RESPONSE .....cooviiiiiiiiiiiiiie et 1-44

SECTION II: FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A Message from the Acting Chief Financial Officer..........cccccccccce... -1
Combining Financial Statements...........cccoooviiiiiiiiiiiiiii e, 11-2
Notes to the Financial Statements............cccceeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiic e 11-12

SECTION I11I: SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION
(@ 1YY A VAT TP -1

Supplemental Information............ccccooooiiiiiiii 11-7



SECTION |
AUDIT REPORT



DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
INSPECTOR GENERAL'S REPORT ON THE
FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION
FY 1996 FINANCIAL STATEMENT

To the Federal Aviation Administrator

The Department of Transportation (DOT), Office of Inspector General (OIG),
has completed an audit of the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA)
Statement of Financial Position as of September 30, 1996. The financial
statement is the responsibility of FAA. As applicable to the FAA financial
statement, we are also reporting on the associated internal control systems,
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and the existence and
completeness of performance measures. The audit was performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards as prescribed by the
Comptroller General and the Office of Management and Budget (OMB)
Bulletin 93-06, “Audit Requirements for Federal Financial Statements.”

The audit objectives were to (1) determine whether the Statement of
Financial Position presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of FAA in accordance with OMB Bulletin No. 94-01, (2) determine
whether FAA has in place an internal accounting and administrative control
structure that provides reasonable assurance of achieving established
internal control objectives, (3) determine whether FAA has complied with the
laws and regulations which (a) could have a direct and material effect on the
financial statements or (b) have been specified by OMB, (4) assess whether
the information and manner of presentation in the Overview and
Supplemental Financial and Management Information sections of the
financial statement package are materially consistent with the information
in the Statement of Financial Position, and (5) assess control risk relative to
the policies and procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that
FAA is achieving its internal accounting and administrative control
objectives regarding the existence and completeness assertions for
performance measures.

In March 1996, DOT requested a waiver from specific requirements of OMB
Bulletin 94-01 regarding preparation of the Statement of Cash Flows and the
Statement of Budgetary Resources and Actual Expenses. OMB approved the
waiver and FAA did not prepare these two statements.



The financial statement audit process is intended to foster a collegial and
cooperative working relationship between auditors and accounting personnel,
and this was accomplished during the audit. Using the results of the audit
fieldwork, FAA accounting personnel significantly enhanced the precision
and comprehensiveness of the information reported in the Fiscal Year
(FY) 1996 FAA Financial Statement. The resulting modifications
incorporated into the final version of the financial statement include
$8.2 billion in line item adjustments and $4.2 billion in line item
reclassifications. We calculated the amounts for the line item adjustments
and reclassifications using the value of only one side of each accounting
adjustment, i.e., either debit or credit.

This report presents our disclaimer of opinion on the FAA Statement of
Financial Position as of September 30, 1996. Since we disclaimed an opinion
on the Statement of Financial Position, we were unable to accomplish our
fourth objective stated above. In addition, we are including our reports on
internal control structure and compliance with laws and regulations.

OPINION ON FINANCIAL STATEMENT

In accordance with the Chief Financial Officers (CFO) Act of 1990, as
amended by the Government Management Reform Act of 1994, the OIG
audited the FAA Statement of Financial Position as of September 30, 1996.
The Statement of Financial Position is the responsibility of FAA. The OIG's
responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statement based on
the audit.

The auditing standards under which we conducted our work require us to
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the
Statement of Financial Position is free of material misstatements. Our audit
included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statement. Our audit also included assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit
was limited to the Statement of Financial Position due to our disclaimer of
opinion on the FY 1995 Statement of Financial Position.

As required by OMB Bulletin 94-01, Note 1 to the Financial Statement
describes the accounting policies used by FAA to prepare the financial
statement. Those policies represent a comprehensive basis of accounting
other than Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.



In our view, the audit work we performed provides a reasonable basis for our
disclaimer of opinion. We were unable to validate Operating Materials and
Supplies and Property and Equipment reported on the Statement of
Financial Position at a total of $9.3 billion (representing 51 percent of FAA's
total assets) due to inadequacies in supporting documentation and
unreconciled discrepancies between general ledger balances maintained in
the Departmental Accounting and Financial Information System (DAFIS)
and FAA'’s subsidiary records. In addition, equipment purchase transactions
were inappropriately expensed and should have been capitalized, causing
assets to be understated and expenses to be overstated by at least
$325 million. Furthermore, FAA did not have adequate controls in place to
(a) ensure consistency between financial statements and budgetary reports in
reporting budget execution results and (b) prevent recording of invalid
liabilities.

A disclaimer of opinion is appropriate when the auditor has not performed an
audit sufficient in scope to form an opinion on the financial statements. A
disclaimer of opinion states the auditor does not express an opinion on the
financial statements. Accordingly, as a result of the documentation and
capitalization problems noted above, the scope of our work was not sufficient
to enable us to express, and we do not express, an opinion on the Statement
of Financial Position as of September 30, 1996.

CONSISTENCY OF OTHER INFORMATION

Our disclaimer of opinion on the Statement of Financial Position as of
September 30, 1996, prevented us from accomplishing our fourth audit
objective. We were unable to assess whether the information in the Overview
and Supplemental Financial and Management Information sections of the
financial statement package was materially consistent with the Statement of
Financial Position.

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL STRUCTURE

OMB guidance for implementing the audit provisions of the CFO Act
requires the auditors to assess the reporting entity's internal control
structure. FAA management is responsible for establishing and maintaining
an internal control structure. In fulfilling this responsibility, estimates and
judgments by management are required to assess the expected benefits and
related costs of internal control mechanisms, policies, and procedures. The
objectives of an internal control structure are to provide management with
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that (1) transactions are properly
recorded and accounted for, to permit the preparation of reliable financial
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reports in accordance with applicable accounting policies; (2) funds, property,
and other assets are safeguarded against unauthorized use, loss, or
disposition; (3) transactions are executed in compliance with laws and
regulations; and (4) data supporting reported performance measures are
properly recorded.

In planning our financial statement audit, we considered the internal control
structure of FAA to identify appropriate auditing procedures for the purposes
of expressing an opinion on the Statement of Financial Position and
determining whether the internal control structure met the FAA internal
control objectives. However, the intent of our internal control review was not
to provide an opinion on FAA's overall system of internal controls.

The work we performed included obtaining an understanding of the
significant internal control policies and procedures and assessing the level of
control risk relevant to all significant activity cycles, classes of transactions,
and/or account balances. For those significant internal control policies and
procedures found to be properly designed and placed in operation, we
performed sufficient tests to assess more fully whether the controls were
effective and working as designed.

Some FAA internal controls are dependent on automated information
systems processing. An independent contractor evaluated the effectiveness of
the general controls of the financial systems at the Transportation
Administrative Service Center Computer Center in Washington, D.C.,
Electronic Data Systems Corporation’s computer facility located in Plano,
Texas, FAA Headquarters Offices in Washington, D.C., and FAA’'s Mike
Monroney Aeronautical Center in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma. The
contractor’s evaluation included (a) environmental security software controls,
(b) operating system integrity controls, (c) physical security controls,
(d) operating system change controls and maintenance, (e) reliability-
availability-stability controls, and (f) enterprise-wide security. In addition,
another independent contractor conducted a penetration evaluation of the
effectiveness of network security controls over access to financial systems
within the Integrated Telecommunications Network Environment in the
Department of Transportation. The Department's Report to the President
and Congress for FY 1996 under the Federal Managers’ Financial Integrity
Act reported a new material weakness relating to the lack of security controls
over access to the Department’s Intermodal Data Network.

In addition, we reviewed application controls in DAFIS and selected feeder
systems. This evaluation included obtaining an understanding of the
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significant internal control policies and procedures and assessing the
adequacy of preventive, detective, and corrective controls over the input,
processing, and output of authorized financial data reported to, and
processed by, DAFIS and selected feeder systems. The feeder systems
affecting the FY 1996 FAA Financial Statement were the Consolidated
Uniform Payroll System, the Electronic Clearing House Operating System,
and the DAFIS Online Transaction System. The review of application
controls identified a material weakness in the completion of system change
requests and a material nonconformance in the use of general ledger
adjustments, which will be reported to the Secretary in the report on the
FY 1996 Departmentwide Financial Statement Audit.

Our internal control testing identified eight deficiencies which we concluded
should be considered "reportable conditions" under standards established by
the General Accounting Office (GAO), the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, and OMB Bulletin 93-06. Reportable conditions are
matters coming to our attention involving significant deficiencies in the
design or operation of the internal control structure which, in our judgment,
could adversely affect the entity's ability to ensure the objectives of the
internal control structure are being achieved. Furthermore, we concluded six
of the eight deficiencies should also be considered “material weaknesses”
under the standards referenced above. A material weakness is a reportable
condition where the design or operation of one or more specific internal
control mechanisms does not reduce to a relatively low level the risk of
material errors or irregularities occurring and not being detected within a
reasonable time by employees in the normal course of performing their
assigned functions. However, the deficiencies do not meet the criteria under
the Federal Managers' Financial Integrity Act for reporting to the President
and Congress.

Our consideration of FAA'’s internal control structure would not necessarily
identify all matters which should be considered reportable conditions.
Accordingly, the eight deficiencies described below do not necessarily
constitute all reportable conditions, including material weaknesses,
associated with the FAA internal control structure.



MATERIAL WEAKNESSES

A. Operating Materials and Supplies

Operating materials and supplies reported at $432 million were not
adequately supported and could not be substantiated through audit
testing. This occurred because physical inventories were not
performed, adequate subsidiary records were not maintained, and the
general ledger was not reconciled to subsidiary records. As a result,
we were unable to validate the amount of operating materials and
supplies on hand as of September 30, 1996.

Discussion

The Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standard (SFFAS)
Number 3, “Accounting for Inventory and Related Property,” defines
operating materials and supplies as “. . . tangible personal property to
be consumed in normal operations. . . .” The standard requires
operating materials and supplies to be valued on the basis of historical
costs. SFFAS Number 3 further requires excess, obsolete, and
unserviceable operating materials and supplies to be disclosed either
as part of the operating materials and supplies line item on the face of
the financial statements with separate disclosure in footnotes or shown
as a separate line item on the face of the financial statement.

The FAA Logistics Center in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, is the central
storage facility for operating materials and supplies. The Logistics
Center uses an automated inventory management system called the
Logistics and Inventory System (LIS) for operating materials and
supplies. The LIS is FAA's subsidiary record to the general ledger for
operating materials and supplies account balances stored at the
Logistics Center. In addition to operating materials and supplies
stored at the Logistics Center, FAA has operating materials and
supplies (field spares) located at approximately 34,000 sites
throughout the United States. Field spares are not under the control
of the Logistics Center.

Until January 3, 1996, the Logistics Center followed physical
inventory procedures established in FAA Order 4633.1 which generally
required periodic physical counts of inventory on a cyclical basis,
assuring that all items are reviewed every 3years. On
January 3, 1996, the Logistics Center implemented the physical
inventory requirements in Process Guide (PG) 4650.19. The revised
physical inventory guide reduced the number of physical inventory
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counts by permitting the wuse of statistical sampling. On
December 2, 1996, the Department’'s CFO issued policy guidance on
Inventory and Related Property which stated “Periodic physical counts
of inventory and related materials should be performed on a cyclical
basis, assuring all items are reviewed at least every three years.” FAA
Order 4250.9B, “Field Material Management and Control,” requires
annual inventory of controlled National Airspace System (NAS) spare
parts and provides the criteria for defining NAS controlled spare parts.
FAA Order 4250.9B also requires a biennial review of stocked items to
determine whether any items should be deleted from stock.

Physical Inventories

FAA has not performed required physical inventories of operating
materials and supplies at the Logistics Center and field facilities.
Also, FAA physical inventory procedures do not require that all items
be inventoried within a 3-year period as provided in Departmental
inventory policy guidance. Finally, FAA has not implemented
recommendations to address material weaknesses in physical
inventory procedures identified in a prior OIG audit report.

FAA waived the physical inventory requirements included in FAA
Order 4633.1 for FYs 1991, 1992, and 1993 because of implementation
of the LIS and the transition to an automated warehouse. However, in
October 1993, in support of our FY 1993 financial statement audit, the
Logistic Center began counting all Facilities and Equipment (F&E)
items. For FYs 1994 and 1995, FAA continued to count F&E items,
but excluded common line items from the physical inventory counts.
For these fiscal years, FAA counted less than 5 percent of the total line
items. In FY 1996, the scope of physical inventories expanded to
include common line items. A total of 4,249 line items were
inventoried representing 7 percent of the total line items and
36 percent of the total recorded value. As a result, for FYs 1994
through 1996, FAA failed to meet the 3-year cycle for completing a
physical inventory of Logistics Center operating materials and
supplies.

We performed a physical inventory of operating materials and supplies
at the Logistics Center using statistical sampling techniques. The
results of the statistical sample showed, at a 95 percent confidence
level, that 20.2 percent of the line items in the LIS have incorrect
on-hand balances. In our opinion, this error rate exceeds the level



needed to provide reasonable assurance of the accuracy of the
guantities recorded in the LIS.

FAA is not performing annual physical inventories of field spares
located at an estimated 34,000 sites throughout the United States.
FAA Order 4250.9B requires an annual inventory of controlled NAS
spare parts. We visited the William J. Hughes Technical Center in
Atlantic City, New Jersey, and 17 field sites within 3 FAA regions and
found only 2 sites had completed a physical inventory since the initial
inventory was completed in 1993. FAA provided information showing
only 26 percent of the field spares were inventoried nationwide during
FY 1996, further substantiating the lack of annual physical
inventories. We performed limited physical inventories at the 18 sites
and concluded the LIS did not provide an accurate accounting for field
spares on hand. We found a 27 percent error rate on the 394 items we
inventoried.

Also, FAA physical inventory procedures described in PG 4650.19 are
not consistent with DOT policy guidance. DOT policy guidance on
inventory and related property issued on December 2, 1996, states
“Periodic physical counts of inventory and related materials should be
performed on a cyclical basis, assuring that all items are reviewed at
least every three years.” FAA physical inventory procedures in
PG 4650.19 provide statistical sampling on an annual basis, a 2-year
basis or a 3-year basis depending on the category of items (i.e.
Facilities and Equipment, Exchange and Repair, and Expendable).
The process guide also states inventory of expendable items (under
$500 unit price) with an annual demand dollar value less than $500
are to be performed as “scheduled inventory.” In addition, there are
an estimated 13,500 line items stocked at the Logistics Center which
are not subject to physical inventory. These items are categorized as
“direct ship” items.

Finally, FAA has not fully implemented recommendations made to
correct weaknesses found in Logistics Center physical inventory
procedures. In November 1993, we observed the physical inventory
process and identified significant issues associated with inventory

'A scheduled inventory is defined as an inventory requested by an inventory
management specialist when an expendable item under $500 unit price with an annual
demand dollar value less than $500 reaches the insurance stock level, zero quantity on hand
or a refusal is received. In October 1996, these items represented an estimated 35,000 line
items valued at about $50 million.



procedures and reported the area as a material weakness in Report
No. AD-FA-5-005, “Supplementary Report on Internal Control Systems
and Compliance Related to the Airport & Airway Trust Fund Portion
of FAA's FY 1993 Financial Statement.” We followed up on these
recommendations and found limited action had been taken on physical
inventory recommendations made in this report.

In the report, we expressed concern for extensive recounts and
adjustments, lack of separation of duties among counters, and
unlimited “third count” updates. We continue to have concern with
these issues as a result of our 1996 monitoring of physical inventories
at the Logistics Center and additional followup action we took to
determine the FAA's efforts on the five recommendations made in the
1995 report.

The new physical inventory procedures, implemented in January 1996,
were not revised to limit the number of counts taken to three and did
not require the posting of adjustments to the subsidiary record upon
completion of the third count. We also determined inventories taken
on three lots (a group/division of line items to be inventoried) in
FY 1996 took between 2 and 6 months. The new procedures do not
specify a reasonable period for making physical counts and posting
adjustments nor minimize the use of transaction tapes used to account
for receipts and issues during inventory counts. We also observed a
continued problem with separation of duties as counters had access to
recorded inventory balances. FAA has not modified the subsidiary
ledger to permit no more than three counts before a final count is
recorded and proper accounting adjustments are made.

Subsidiary Records

FAA did not maintain adequate subsidiary records to identify all
operating materials and supplies at historical cost. We found
48.4 percent of the Logistics Center items sampled did not have any
documentation (purchase order, invoice, contract) to support unit
prices recorded in the LIS. Using prices recorded in the LIS we
project, at a 95 percent confidence level, that $286.3 million of the
$591.6 million® recorded in the LIS is unsupported. Our analysis of

’For financial statement purposes, FAA devalued the $591.6 million to $432 million
primarily to account for operating materials and supplies in need of repair.



the 181 unsupported sample line items showed the last receipt date
recorded in LIS for 158 line items (87 percent) was October 1988. The
October 1988 date was used for all items with last receipt date prior to
October 1988.

In conjunction with substantive testing for price support, we identified
other internal control issues which further question the $591.6 million
recorded in LIS as of September 30, 1996. These issues include:

- Price support documentation did not match LIS prices. In
addition to the 48.4 percent of the line items sampled that did
not have price support, we projected another 24.4 percent of the
line items did not have pricing support that matched the unit
prices in LIS.

- FAA inventory managers can override and set their own line
item unit prices. As part of the Logistics Center quarterly price
review, standard unit prices are mechanically reviewed and
validated based on receipt transactions of the previous quarter.
The inventory managers may, based on their review of the
transactions, find the price change unjustifiable and override a
price change.

- The Logistics Center used purchase orders to determine unit
price instead of the invoice price. The use of purchase orders to
compute unit prices does not reflect historical cost as defined in
SFFAS Number 3. According to the standard, historical cost is
to include all purchase and production costs incurred to bring
the items to their current condition and location.

- FAA used various methods to price items which may not
represent the actual cost of the item. For example, the
methodology used to recompute standard costs for exchange and
repair items that can no longer be purchased and are repaired
by FAA for other Government agencies does not limit the
standard cost to the repair cost (materials, labor, and overhead)
of the item plus the cost of the core of the item. The pricing
methodology in some cases increased unit prices over
400 percent. An FAA Logistics Center representative stated
that the increased unit prices were used as an incentive for
other Government agencies to return the cores to FAA.

- FAA did not provide documentation showing items sampled at

the Logistics Center were screened for excess, obsolete, or
unserviceable items. For example, 77 of 181 unsupported line
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items in our sample had no demand history. FAA received 51 of
the 77 line items prior to October 1988. The 51 line items
totaled $3.8 million or about 15 percent of the value of our
sample. We also identified during our field spares testing an
exchange and repair item with a unit price of $33,705, which
according to the item manager, is part of a system being
decommissioned. The item manager further explained that only
two of these systems remain active. However, the Logistics
Center had an on-hand quantity of 106 of the exchange and
repair items totaling $3.6 million as of September 30, 1996. In
our opinion, some of the 106 items have the potential to be
excess to FAA needs and should be devalued and placed in the
disposal process. According to FAA Order 4250.9B, when a
stocked recurring item fails to have sufficient usage after 4
successive years, the item is to be removed from stock and
disposed and managed as a nonstocked item.

FAA could not rely on subsidiary records to report an amount for field
spares on the September 30, 1996, Statement of Financial Position.
Operating materials and supplies located at FAA field sites could be a
material amount. The subsidiary record for field spares at
September 30, 1996, showed a field spares balance of $245.3 million.’
However, the LIS does not provide full financial disclosure of the cost
of field spares. The LIS is an automated system used by the Logistics
Center to manage items for which supply support responsibility has
been assigned, arranged, and/or accepted by the Logistics Center. The
LIS does not include the cost of field spares which are not supported by
the Logistics Center nor is it used as a perpetual inventory for field
spares. Field spares not supported by the Logistics Center are
generally procured through FAA Headquarters, FAA regional offices,
or contractors. LIS also does not include consumable items procured
through the Logistics Center if the unit cost is less than $1,000 and it
Is not considered critical. As a result, the amount of field spares may
be understated.

Unreconciled Balances

°’In note 8 to the financial statement, FAA acknowledges that previously the OIG
had contended that expensing field spares as issued by the Logistics Center may result in an
understatement of operating materials and supplies. FAA also states that items shipped to
regional sites may also include components of work in process or completed property and
equipment.
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The September 30, 1996, general ledger account balances for operating
materials and supplies held at the Logistics Center were $35 million
less than the balance recorded in LIS. The $35 million pertained to
the difference between the general ledger account balances maintained
for general operations, aircraft parts, and facility components and the
balances recorded in LIS. FAA did not reconcile the general ledger
and subsidiary records to account for the differences.

Recommendations

We recommend that FAA:

1. Perform a one-time wall-to-wall physical inventory of Logistics
Center operating materials and supplies.

2. Perform an annual physical inventory of field spares as required by
FAA Order 4250.9B. Before initiating the physical inventory,
develop a plan which details the procedures to be used and provide
the plans to the OIG for review and comment.

3. Revise Process Guide 4650.19 to comply with DOT policy guidance
on Inventory and Related Property requiring physical counts on all
items at least every 3 years.

4. Implement physical inventory recommendations made in our
supplementary report (AD-FA-5-005) to FAA’'s FY 1993 financial
statement.

5. Record line item unit prices at historical cost and maintain invoices
or other documentation to support price changes.

6. ldentify excess, obsolete, and unserviceable items in Logistics
Center and field inventories and promptly initiate disposal action.

7. Establish subsidiary records to account for operating materials and
supplies (field spares) and ensure the recorded balances are
disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position in compliance with
reporting requirements in SFFAS Number 3.

8. Reconcile general ledger account balances to subsidiary records and
ensure an adequate audit trail is maintained supporting the
reconciled balances.

Management Response
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FAA concurred with the finding and recommendations. During
FY 1997, FAA will perform a wall-to-wall physical inventory of
Logistics Center operating materials and supplies representing
90 percent of the inventory value and 36 percent of the line items
stored at the Logistics Center. The inventory will include a review for
excess, obsolete, and unserviceable items. In addition, FAA is
preparing a plan to perform a physical inventory of field spares,
focusing primarily on high dollar value items and secondly on item
count, as a means of establishing a baseline for future field spares
inventories.

FAA will incorporate Departmental policy guidance in FAA Order
4633.1 to require all items be physically counted every 3 years. FAA
Order 4633.1 also will be revised to include actions recommended in
OIG Report No. AD-FA-5-005. The Logistics Center subsidiary records
for operating materials and supplies will be modified to capture
historical cost until a system is built to interface with DAFIS. FAA
will rely on physical inventory results to account for operating
materials and supplies stored at field locations, eliminating the need
to establish subsidiary (perpetual) records for field spares. FAA will
complete reconciliation of the general ledger balances to subsidiary
records and adjust accounts by May 31, 1997.

Audit Comments

Actions planned by FAA meet the intent of our recommendations.
However, we caution FAA on their decision not to establish perpetual
records to account for field spares, but instead rely on annual physical
inventories to determine yearend field spares balances. Since field
spares could represent a significant portion of the total operating
materials and supplies on hand, it will be crucial for the physical
inventories to be completed accurately and at yearend.

B. Capitalization of Equipment Purchase Costs

FAA expensed equipment purchase costs for major system acquisitions
which should have been capitalized. This occurred because procedures
had not been implemented to ensure the proper classification and
accounting of cost elements associated with equipment purchases.
Also, key personnel involved in the acquisition and billing processes
had not been trained on the proper procedures for expensing and
capitalizing equipment purchase costs. As a result, Property and
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Equipment on the Statement of Financial Position was understated by
at least $325 million, with a corresponding overstatement of Operating
Expenses on the Statement of Operations.

Discussion

SFFAS Number 6, “Accounting for Property, Plant, & Equipment,”
requires all costs incurred to bring property, plant, and equipment to a
form and location suitable for its intended use to be capitalized rather
than expensed. This standard defines property, plant, and equipment
as a tangible asset with an estimated useful life of 2 years or more, not
intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations, and acquired or
constructed with the intention of being used.

FAA Order 2700.31, “Uniform Accounting System Operations
Manual,” requires all property, plant and equipment including land,
structures and facilities, equipment, and related improvements that
have a service life of 2 years or greater and an initial unit or item cost
of $5,000 or more to be capitalized. Equipment costs not meeting this
criteria should be expensed. The proper accounting of equipment
purchases will become especially critical if user fees are established as
an alternative source of funding for future FAA operations.

Our audit of the FY 1993 FAA Financial Statement reported $3 million
In equipment purchase costs should have been capitalized but were
instead expensed. In response to our audit, FAA agreed to train
accounting personnel by March 1997 on the procedures for
capitalizing/expensing equipment purchases. Similarly, our audits of
FYs 1994 and 1995 FAA Financial Statements reported that FAA had
expensed the full costs of acquiring major assets, rather than
capitalizing the appropriate portions of those costs.

FAA hired a contractor to study their policy and procedures for
capitalizing and expensing equipment purchases. The contractor
concluded FAA improperly accounted for equipment purchase costs
because (a) F&E procurement requests and contracts included contract
line items with both capital and expense costs, and (b) inappropriate
object class codes were included in accounting information. In
September 1996, the contractor prepared draft operating procedures to
address problems in capitalizing equipment purchases in FAA
Headquarters. The draft procedures provide detailed guidance on
structuring the procurement request and contract and processing
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billing documents for payment to ensure equipment purchase costs
were properly classified as either a capital asset or an expense.

FAA equipment is purchased primarily with F&E funding. During
FYs 1995 and 1996, FAA charged $1.9 billion and $2.6 billion of F&E
transactions to Operating Expenses on the Statement of Operations.
An estimated $1.6 billion of the FY 1996 transactions represented
payments to contractors under FAA contracts and reimbursements and
advance payments to other Government agencies for equipment
purchases.

We reviewed 137 purchases for equipment and related services
totaling $473 million during FY 1996. We found that FAA expensed at
least $325 million which should have been capitalized.

Equipment Purchases Under FAA Contracts

We reviewed a total of 104 contractor invoices totaling $314 million
and found FAA expensed equipment costs on 96 invoices totaling
$173 million which should have been capitalized. Eight invoices
represented progress payments based on a percentage of contract
completion. Progress payments should be charged to an advance
payment account and reversed out when the items are delivered and
services are completed. Three invoices represented common
development costs under a technical support contract. Technical
support costs incurred prior to completion of a project (installation of
equipment) should be capitalized. We determined that the project had
not been completed. The remaining 85 invoices represented contractor
billings identified by contract line item. We reviewed the contract line
item descriptions and concluded the costs charged to the expense
account represented equipment purchase costs as well as costs
incurred in bringing the equipment to a form suitable for its intended
use. Therefore, these costs should have been capitalized. In addition,
the accounting information for 95 of the 96 invoices cited an incorrect
object class code.

Equipment Purchases Under Other Government Agency Contracts

We reviewed 33 billings totaling $159 million to reimburse or make
advance payments for major system equipment costs under
interagency agreements. We found FAA expensed equipment costs
totaling $152 million on 31 billings which should have been
capitalized. The other agencies agreed to provide FAA with project
management, equipment design, equipment, site surveys, equipment
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installation, training development, and spares. These costs clearly
met the definition of costs to include in capitalizing equipment
purchases. The accounting information for 11 of the 31 payments
properly cited a capital object class code, but the 11 payments were
still charged to the general ledger operating expense account. The
other 20 payments were charged to the operating expense account
because an expense object class code was inappropriately used in
processing the payment.

Contractor’'s Recommendations

The contractor's recommendations included (a) posting all progress
payments in an advance payment account and reversing the entry
when the final payment is made, (b) creating a project cost system to
accumulate common development costs, and (c) using only capital
object class codes in the accounting citation for the contract line items
to be capitalized. The contractor also recommended FAA revise
Order 2700.31 to clearly identify which elements of F&E contract costs
should be capitalized and which should be expensed. However, the
contractor’s recommendations did not specifically address procedures
for processing payments under interagency agreements to ensure
equipment costs were charged to the appropriate general ledger
account. In addition, the operating procedures developed by the
contractor had not been finalized, and key FAA personnel had not
been trained on these new procedures.
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Recommendations

We recommend that FAA:

1. Finalize and implement the contractor's recommendations on
classifying and accounting for progress payments, common project
costs, and contract line item numbers on FAA F&E contracts.

2. Include equipment purchased under interagency agreements in the
procedures implemented under Recommendation 1.

3. Ensure that all key personnel receive training on the contractor’s
procedures for capitalizing equipment purchases.

4. Implement procedures to ensure purchase orders and contracts are
structured to clearly identify and distinguish property and
equipment, common costs, operating materials and supplies, field
spares, and expenses. These procedures should also address
purchases with contracts managed by other Government agencies
through interagency agreements.

5. Review F&E transactions charged to Operating Expenses (about
$4.5 billion) on  the Statements of  Operations  for
FYs 1995 and 1996 and capitalize the appropriate portion of the
equipment purchase costs.

Management Response

FAA did not agree that at least $325 million should have been
capitalized. FAA contends the amount is significantly less and states
that only $14,626,885 of a total $172,637,026 in equipment purchases
under FAA contracts was in fact misclassified. Therefore, FAA
recommends the finding be considered a reportable condition and not a
material weakness.

FAA agreed that equipment purchase costs were expensed which
should have been capitalized and concurred with the first four
recommendations. FAA is in the process of completing a corrective
action plan to implement recommendations contained in the
contractor’s report. Corrective action on these recommendations are
scheduled for completion by September 30, 1997.

FAA nonconcurs with Recommendation 5 to review F&E transactions
charged to Operating Expenses for FYs 1995 and 1996 and capitalize
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the appropriate portion of the equipment purchase costs. FAA
contends the resource expenditure required to complete this
recommendation cannot be justified.

Audit Comments

We reaffirm our position that equipment purchase costs totaling at
least $325 million were incorrectly expensed. As previously stated,
most F&E funds are used to purchase equipment and FAA charged
$2.6 billion in F&E transactions to Program or Operating Expenses on
the Statement of Operations for the period ended September 30, 1996.
We reviewed transactions totaling $473 million and concluded at least
$325 million (69 percent) should have been capitalized.

Audit materiality for the FY 1996 FAA Financial Statement is
$100 million. FAA contends that approximately $158 million out of
the $325 million we cite was not improperly charged to operating
expenses. This leaves a balance of $167 million. This amount is in
excess of the audit materiality amount. Therefore, we stand by our
conclusion that FAA has a material weakness.

We recognize that Recommendation 5 is difficult to implement.
Therefore, we are requesting that FAA identify alternative approaches
to determine the appropriate amount of transactions initially charged
to expense that need to be adjusted and properly capitalized.

C. Property and Equipment

Real and personal property reported at $5.14 billion were not
adequately supported and could not be substantiated through audit
testing. This occurred primarily because subsidiary records were
Inaccurate, record reconciliations were not done, and adequate
documentation was not maintained to support the subsidiary records.
As a result, we were unable to validate the amount of property and
equipment reported as of September 30, 1996. In addition, this finding
also impacts the amount reported by FAA for invested capital on its
Statement of Financial Position.
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Discussion

The CFO Act of 1990 along with OMB Circular A-127, “Financial
Management Systems,” require agencies to develop and maintain
financial management systems that provide complete, reliable,
consistent, and timely information. This requirement is further
emphasized in Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Concepts
Number 1, “Objectives of Federal Financial Reporting.” SFFAS
Number 6, “Accounting for Property, Plant, and Equipment,” requires
that all property, plant, and equipment be recorded at cost. Cost is
defined as all expenses associated with bringing property, plant, and
equipment to a form and location suitable for its intended use.

FAA Order 2700.31, Section 2, Paragraph 187 states, “Property records
must agree with financial accountability records maintained by the
accounting offices.” Furthermore, the order requires (a) the official
property report to be reconciled quarterly to the general ledger
accounts, (b) systematic physical inventories be conducted by regional
offices, and (c) accounting managers to certify that the dollar amount
applicable to owned real property agrees with the real property
account balances reflected on the post-closing general ledger trial
balance as of September 30. By following these requirements, FAA
can better maintain the integrity of financial reporting and increase its
ability to detect and correct errors or irregularities in a timely fashion.

The majority of FAA's personal property is acquired with funds from
the F&E appropriation. FAA Order 4650.7A, "Management of NAS
F&E Project Materiel," prescribes policy and assigns responsibilities
for the management of NAS F&E projects. Regional F&E project
materiel managers are responsible for closing NAS F&E projects,
normally within 150 days from the date of final completion. They
determine property that should be transferred to the Personal
Property In-Use Management System (PPIMS) as personal property or
Real Property Record system as real property, and other materiel that
should be expensed. Project materiel managers also provide
responsible personnel with a copy of the project closeout package for
inclusion in the facility's Facility Reference Data File, and send the
capitalization package to the accounting office to initiate financial
capitalization efforts.

The reported amount on the FAA financial statement for the period

ended September 30, 1996, for the line item “Property and Equipment”
is $8.8 billion. This line item is primarily composed of $1.98 billion for
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real property, $3.16 billion for personal property, and $3.3 billion for
work in process.

FAA Real Property

Real property subsidiary records contained errors and omissions
which, based upon the results of our statistical sample, indicate the
value of real property recorded in the subsidiary records is materially
overstated. The errors and omissions included unrecorded property
dispositions and improperly valued items. In addition, 4 of 11 FAA
reporting units had not reconciled the DAFIS general ledger real
property account balance to the subsidiary property records. We
attribute these conditions to the lack of controls and adequate
resources to assure that subsidiary records are complete and accurate
and FAA not fully implementing previously agreed upon OIG
recommendations concerning reconciliation procedures.

To determine the accuracy of the subsidiary records supporting real
property general ledger account balances, we selected a statistical
sample of 277 real property items recorded at $599,878,117 to perform
detailed tests. These tests were designed to determine whether each of
the 277 property items selected actually existed, was owned by FAA,
and was properly valued. To determine the completeness of the
subsidiary records, we performed additional tests at the field sites
selected to determine whether real property was properly recorded and
valued.

From the statistical sample, we found seven property items that
should have been removed from the property records because they had
been disposed, destroyed, or physically removed from the site. Also,
available documentation did not support the value assigned to four
items in the subsidiary records. Based on the results of our statistical
sample we were able to project, with 95 percent confidence, that the
value of real property recorded in the subsidiary records is overstated
by about $198 million. This overstatement represents the difference
between $1.891 billion from FAA's real property subsidiary records
and our statistically projected best estimate of $1.693 billion.

Further, at sites visited, we identified 32 items of real property valued
at $11.9 million that were not included in the subsidiary records. We
also found an additional 42 property items valued at $1.2 million not
included in our statistical sample that should have been removed from
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the property records. At the Aeronautical Center, $6.4 million of
leasehold improvements are not included in the property records or
supported by adequate documentation.

To ensure the accuracy of property records, FAA procedures include
performing timely physical inventories. Properly implemented, these
procedures should have disclosed the types of problems we observed
and permitted timely adjustment of the subsidiary real property
records. However, FAA has not assigned a sufficiently high priority to
real property accountability to assure a proper level of accountability.

FAA'’s failure to reconcile the DAFIS general ledger to the subsidiary
records has been reported as a material control weakness in OIG audit
reports since FY 1994. In response, FAA agreed to complete a
reconciliation of the general ledger and subsidiary records. FAA
advised the OIG before the start of this year’s audit that the agreed
upon reconciliation would be completed. At 7 of 11 property reporting
units, we found that the general ledger had been reconciled to the
subsidiary records. At the remaining four locations, a reconciliation
had not been performed and the cumulative variance at the end of
FY 1996 totaled $82.1 million. In addition, we found FAA’s Southern
Region had not recorded any transactions in the subsidiary property
record system since FY 1994.

Although FAA has made progress towards completing the
reconciliation process, all units should routinely complete this effort to
ensure the integrity of the real property accounting process. FAA
personnel cited resource restrictions and higher priority work
assignments as the primary reasons for not completing the
reconciliation between DAFIS and the subsidiary records.

FAA Personal Property

Although PPIMS generally supported the balance recorded in the
general ledger account, FAA did not maintain documentation to
identify and support the cost of personal property reflected in PPIMS.
These problems occurred because F&E Project Materiel Managers
coded a significant percentage of property and equipment as “rolled-up
facility equipment,” and supporting documentation to identify the
equipment and support the recorded amount was not routinely
obtained or retained.
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PPIMS maintains two distinct personal property files. First, all
itemized property and associated components considered to be “facility
equipment” are rolled up to the facility level." Therefore, PPIMS only
maintains the cumulative value of facility equipment (including
installation charges). All other property is recorded on an individual
line item accountable basis. Only $535 million of the $2.87 billion
reported in PPIMS as of September 30, 1996, (19 percent) represented
line item accountable property. The remaining amount was rolled-up
facility equipment ($1.82 billion) and installation charges
($502 million). Project closeout files, to be maintained in the Facility
Reference Data File, should identify and support the value of rolled-up
facility equipment and installation charges.

We performed substantive testing at one location in eight FAA regions
with a recorded amount of rolled-up facility equipment and
installation charges of $189.9 million. We were testing to determine
existence, value, and ownership of the property. At all eight locations,
property and equipment represented as rolled-up facility equipment
and installation charges could not be completely identified.
Documentation to support the value of the facility equipment was not
available at either the site or at the regional office.

For example, at the Leesburg ARTCC there were 16 “Facility Types”
reflected in PPIMS with a value of $25 million. None of the 16 Facility
Reference Data Files contained documentation to identify the property
and equipment. When documentation was available elsewhere, it was
often incomplete or inaccurate. For example, Logistics Division
personnel in Eastern Region were able to provide us with
documentation to support one facility type--the Traffic Management
Unit at Leesburg. While PPIMS reflected $193,204 of facility
equipment, the supporting documentation identified only $192,191
with the majority involving three computer workstations valued at
$162,214. When we were unable to locate the workstations, Leesburg
personnel provided us with an FAA Form 4650-12 “Materiel
Requisition/lssue/Receipt” showing that the workstations were
replaced in 1994.

An FAA contractor hired in FY 1996 reported PPIMS records do not
contain details of facility equipment and concluded *“Future

‘A facility is generally a specific location and may be further defined as an
organizational component and/or system at that location. For example, at the Leesburg Air
Route Traffic Control Center, the host computer was identified as a facility.
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identification of specific assets and system components will be almost
impossible without automated details of installed equipment. A lack of
automated records will inhibit any future efforts to record depreciation
expense on fixed assets.” The contractor made a number of
recommendations to improve FAA’s property system to meet its
accounting needs. For example, the contractor recommended:

-  PPIMS should be modified to record individual F&E systems
separately and totally at their historical costs. These detailed
records should be kept on PPMIS for as long as the facility is
operational.

- FAA should adopt the use of a centralized catalogue system for
in-use property cataloguing throughout the FAA. A central
catalogue would result in a single National Stock Number
(NSN) for any one item in the FAA’s in-use property records,
thus consolidating the multiple NSNs currently in use for the
same equipment.

We concluded regional F&E Project Materiel Managers were not
providing the documentation specified in FAA Order 4650.7A. Until
adequate supporting documentation is available to identify and
support the value of personal property, the OIG will not be able to
evaluate FAA’'s assertions concerning existence, valuation and
ownership. We agree with the contractor's recommendations.
Recording major items of facility equipment as line item accountable
equipment in PPIMS would facilitate identification of the property and
equipment reported as facility equipment.

The deficiencies identified relating to the accuracy and completeness of
subsidiary records, the statistically projected overstatement and the
reconciliation problems constitute a material internal control
weakness. Therefore, we conclude the property and equipment
portion of the Statement of Financial Position does not fairly present
the FAA's financial condition at September 30, 1996.
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Invested Capital

The deficiencies previously described in accounting for FAA’'s Real and
Personal Property and Operating Materials and Supplies have
adversely impacted the accurate accounting of the Invested Capital
line of the Net Position section. OMB Bulletin 94-01 defines Invested
Capital as the net investment of the Government in the reporting
entity, including the acquisition costs of capitalized fixed assets.
Therefore, the Invested Capital line of the Net Position section of the
Statement of Financial Position should agree with the total reported
for Property and Equipment and Operating Materials and Supplies.
However, FAA's Statement of Financial Position as of
September 30, 1996, reported Property and Equipment and Operating
Materials and Supplies at a total of $9.3 billion, while the Invested
Capital line of the Net Position section was reported at $11.2 billion, or
a $1.9 billion difference.

Recommendations

We recommend that FAA:

1. Conduct a physical inventory of all real property and adjust the
subsidiary records and DAFIS accordingly.

2. Comply with FAA Order 2700.31 for the reconciliation of DAFIS
real property accounts to the subsidiary records at each reporting
unit.

3. Ensure subsidiary records are adjusted timely when real property
Is acquired, disposed, destroyed, or physically removed from the
site.

4. Implement the contractor's recommendations associated with
PPIMS.

5. Require Regional F&E Project Materiel Managers to furnish
documentation necessary to adequately identify and support the
value of personal property.

6. Notify all organizational components of the need to retain
supporting documentation associated with personal property
recorded in PPIMS and include it in the Facility Reference Data
File.
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7. Discontinue the practice of recording readily identifiable property
and equipment (e.g., items with serial numbers) as facility
equipment in PPIMS.

Management Response

FAA concurred with five recommendations and partially concurred
with two recommendations. For real property, the Office of
Acquisitions is implementing the Real Estate Management System to
replace the Real Property Record system. FAA will develop a detailed
plan for conducting an inventory of real property within 60 days after
the issuance of the final audit report. Regional accounting records will
be adjusted as the physical inventory is completed at each site. The
Office of Financial Services will develop an automated process to
reconcile DAFIS real property accounts with subsidiary records.
Procedures will be developed to timely adjust records when real
property is acquired, disposed, or physically removed.

In regard to personal property, FAA will stress to all organizations the
iImportance of maintaining the Facility Reference Data File as well as
the need to include closeout packages in the file. FAA proposed not to
modify the old system but to add a historical file to the Regional
Project Materiel Management System to ensure a complete audit trail
for financial management purposes. All corrective actions are
scheduled to be completed by September 30, 1997.

Audit Comments

Actions planned by FAA meet the intent of our recommendations. We
will work with FAA in developing a detailed action plan for conducting
an inventory of real property. We stress the importance of recording
readily identifiable property and equipment as line item accountable
personal property.

D. Work-In-Process (WIP) Account

FAA did not have adequate documentation to support the $2.7 billion
balance reflected in the WIP general ledger account. FAA used a
DAFIS-generated report designed to provide financial information on
job orders as the subsidiary ledger for the WIP account. The DAFIS
report was not adequate documentation. Additionally, FAA has not
been able to reconcile the WIP general ledger account with the DAFIS
report. Therefore, we were unable to perform appropriate audit tests
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or apply other auditing techniques to evaluate FAA’s assertions
concerning the existence, value, and ownership of property and
equipment in the WIP account. We have previously reported this
problem as a material internal control weakness in audits of the FAA'’s
FYs 1993, 1994, and 1995 financial statements.

Discussion

The CFO Act of 1990 and OMB Circular A-127 require agencies to
develop and maintain financial management systems that provide
complete, reliable, consistent, and timely information. This
requirement is further emphasized in Statement of Federal Financial
Accounting Concepts Number 1, “Objectives of Federal Financial
Reporting.”

FAA uses a job order system featuring a five-digit job order number
assigned by regional personnel to control F&E job orders funded by
F&E appropriations. An F&E project can include multiple F&E job
orders. As costs are incurred for each job order, DAFIS captures the
costs and accumulates them by type (labor, travel, material, overhead,
and other costs) and asset category (land, buildings, other
construction, facility equipment, or other equipment) and expenses.
FAA regional personnel rely on a DAFIS-produced report, the 32-9F,
“Report of Completed Job Orders, Work-in-Process, Accrued Cost, and
Related Data by Status by Job Order Number (fiscal year, sequential
number and system) by Asset,” for financial management of the job
orders. Except for expenses, all costs for F&E job orders are posted to
the WIP general ledger account. After a job order is completed, costs
associated with that job order are transferred to the appropriate asset
account and in some instances may be expensed.

Our report on the audit of FAA's FY 1993 financial statement disclosed
that the 32-9F report reflected a balance of $3.3 billion compared to
the WIP account balance of $1.9 billion reported on the Statement of
Financial Position. This large discrepancy existed in part because the
32-9F report (a) captures costs which are expensed and therefore are
not posted to the WIP account and (b)contains cost information
associated with completed job orders which have been transferred out
of the WIP account. After excluding costs associated with expenses
and completed job orders, FAA personnel were able to reduce the
initial discrepancy of $1.4 billion to $387 million. However, FAA
personnel could not determine the reasons the 32-9F report contained
$387 million more than the WIP account.
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During FYs 1994 and 1995, FAA personnel were not able to reconcile
the 32-9F report with the WIP account because of resource constraints
and complexity of the process. The inability of DAFIS to produce
adequate supporting documentation constituted a material internal
control weakness and adversely affected the OIG’s ability to render an
opinion on FAA’s FYs 1994 and 1995 financial statements.

In FY 1996, FAA initiated actions to (a) refine the procedures for
reconciling the 32-9F report with the WIP account, (b) develop an
automated process to assist regional personnel with the reconciliation
process, and (c) have a contractor perform a comprehensive review of
FAA’s policies, procedures, and practices associated with the WIP
account.

During FY 1996, FAA Headquarters developed an automated process
to facilitate the reconciliation process. The Southwest Region took the
lead in trying to complete the reconciliation of the 32-9F report with
the WIP account. As of July 31, 1996, the WIP account in Southwest
Region reflected a balance of $503.5 million compared to a balance of
$709.6 million in the 32-9F report, a difference of $206.1 million. The
automated process identified expenses and rolled-up job orders
totaling $118.6 million. In addition, the reconciliation program
identified costs for "capitalized" projects (i.e., costs transferred out of
the WIP account), reimbursable job orders which are not posted to
WIP, and labor costs not yet charged to a specific job order (a total of
$121.8 million). After considering these factors, the 32-9F report
reflected a revised total of $469.2 million or $34.3 million less than the
WIP account. Southwest Region personnel analyzed the $34.3 million
and further reduced the difference to $12.3 million. They concluded
the remaining difference of $12.3 million was attributed to DAFIS
conversion problems. We agreed with the analysis and conclusion
reached by Southwest Region personnel.

FAA Headquarters personnel used the automated process to analyze
data in the 32-9F report for all nine regional offices. For August 1996,
the 32-9F report had a balance of $4.4 billion compared to a balance of
$3.3 billion in the WIP account. The balance in the August 1996 32-9F
report, after using the automated process, was $2.78 billion or
$520 million less than the WIP account. FAA Headquarters personnel
also used the automated process to do the same analysis for
September, October, and November 1996. The results of the analysis
showed essentially the same result, that the 32-9F report reflected a
balance which was over $500 million less than the WIP account. As
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reflected above, FAA’'s 4-month review of output from the automated
process showed the fluctuation of the balances has stabilized. FAA
Headquarters personnel concluded the large discrepancy occurred as a
result of DAFIS yearend job order rollup and closeout processes.

FAA’s contractor reviewed policies, procedures, and practices
associated with the WIP account and issued a draft report on
October 15, 1996. The contractor reported that regional offices were
not reconciling the WIP account with the 32-9F report because it was a
labor-intensive manual process hampered by a shortage of accounting
personnel and compounded by a large number of active job orders.
The contractor further reported the WIP account contained
unsubstantiated balances which occurred from the 1983 conversion
from the Uniform Accounting System to DAFIS. The contractor
recommended:

- Automating the reconciliation of the cumulative total of a
region’s 32-9F report with the WIP account.

- Performing the reconciliation on a quarterly basis.

- Researching, identifying, and eliminating differences carried
forward from the 1983 conversion to DAFIS.

The lack of adequate documentation to support FAA's WIP account has
been a long-standing problem. This occurred because the 32-9F report
was designed to provide financial information on total costs associated
with all F&E projects. The 32-9F report was not designed to serve as a
subsidiary ledger for the WIP account. Since we first reported this
problem in our audit of the FY 1993 financial statement, FAA has not
demonstrated that the 32-9F report can provide adequate support for
the WIP account. Until FAA can reconcile the 32-9F report with the
WIP account, the OIG’s ability to render an opinion on FAA’s financial
statement will be hampered. Due to the complexity and the labor
intensive process of reconciling, FAA may need to explore alternatives
for providing adequate support for the WIP account.
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Recommendations

We recommend that FAA:

1. Implement the recommendations to improve the WIP process
contained in the contractor’s draft report.

2. Determine if the 32-9F report can be reconciled with the WIP
account. If not, FAA should seek an alternative, such as, using
DAFIS transactions posted to the WIP account to create a separate
subsidiary ledger database.

Management Response

FAA concurred with the finding and recommendations. FAA is
completing a corrective action plan to implement the recommendations
in the contractor's report. The corrective action plan will include
establishing a baseline, developing policies and procedures, enhancing
the automated reconciliation process implemented in August 1996,
capitalizing and closing job order numbers with expiring
appropriations, and establishing oversight and performance metrics.
By the end of FY 1997, to correct the WIP deficiencies, FAA will either
create a separate subsidiary ledger database, prepare a DAFIS system
change request to create a separate subsidiary ledger database, or
develop a 32-9F subsidiary ledger database external to DAFIS.

Audit Comments

Actions planned by FAA meet the intent of our recommendations.
However, we would appreciate being advised on the status of FAA's
implementation of the contractor's recommendations and the
alternative chosen as the subsidiary ledger database.

E. Budget and Financial Statement Report Reconciliation

FAA did not have adequate controls in place to (a) ensure consistency
of Unexpended Appropriations reported on financial statements and
related budgetary reports and (b) resolve discrepancies in Kkey
budgetary accounts. These discrepancies occurred because of the lack
of a requirement to reconcile the budget execution results between
budgetary and financial reports. As a result, the Unexpended
Appropriation reported on the financial statement as of
September 30, 1996, was $1.874 billion less than the unobligated
authority and undelivered orders reported to OMB on the “Report on
Budget Execution (SF-133).”
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Discussion

The goal stated in both the CFO Act and OMB Circular A-127 is for
agencies to develop and maintain financial management systems
which provide complete, reliable, consistent, and timely information
for management decisionmaking. OMB Bulletin 94-01 and its
replacement 97-01, “Form and Content of Agency Financial
Statements,” require Unexpended Appropriations to represent
undelivered orders and unobligated authority for the reporting entity’s
appropriation accounts. The OMB also requires agencies to report
these balances on the SF-133 report based on general ledger accounts.
As shown below, we found the “gross™ Unexpended Appropriation
reported on the draft financial statement was $1.874 billion less than
the unobligated authority and undelivered orders reported to OMB on
the SF-133 for September 30, 1996.

(Dollars in Thousands)

SF-133 F/S Discrepancy

Balance Balance Amount
Unobligated Authority $859,386 ($3,173,125) $4,032,511
Undelivered Orders $4,712,056 *$6,870,613 (%$2,158,557)
Gross Unexpended Appropriation $5,571,442 $3,697,488 $1,873,954

* Adjusted to include $1.8 billion of Future Funding Requirement for Grants obligation in excess
of liquidating authority.

According to FAA management, balances reported on the SF-133 were
closely monitored by accounting, budget, and program staff throughout
the year. Therefore, FAA proposed to replace the Unexpended
Appropriation balances on the draft financial statement with SF-133

*In compliance with Departmental guidance, FAA did not include the

unobligated authority and all undelivered orders for the Airport
Improvement Program in the Unexpended Appropriations line item for
financial statement reporting. The portion of the obligations in excess of
liquidating authority was reported as “Liabilities Not Covered by Budgetary
Resources.” The unobligated authority was included in note disclosure only.
Therefore, all these balances had to be combined to form the “gross”
Unexpended Appropriations which was then compared to the balances
reported on SF-133 for unobligated authority and undelivered orders.
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balances. While this adjustment would eliminate reporting a negative
amount for unobligated authority in the financial statement, there is
no assurance the adjusted balances would be accurate until the
discrepancies are fully resolved.

We further verified whether both reported balances were supported by
corresponding general ledger account balances--i.e., draft financial
statement balances supported by proprietary accounts and SF-133
balances supported by budgetary accounts. Management made a
significant amount of manual adjustments to the proprietary accounts
for financial statement reporting. We concluded these adjustments
were valid. The adjustments were primarily made to remove previous
years’ unfunded grant authority. In the budgetary accounts, however,
we found abnormal balances (e.g., negative amount of unobligated
authority for unexpired appropriations) and material discrepancies
from what was reported to OMB on the SF-133 (see below).

(Dollars in Thousands)

SF-133 G/L Discrepancy

Balance Balance Amount
Unexpired Authority N/A ($1,108,205) N/A
Expired Authority N/A $9,952,553 N/A
Unobligated Authority $859,386 $8,844,348 ($7,984,962)
Undelivered Orders $4,712,056 $5,228,354 ($516,298)
Gross Unexpended Appropriation $5,571,442 $14,072,702 ($8,501,260)

These discrepancies occurred because of the lack of a requirement to
reconcile the budget execution results between budgetary reports and
financial reports. FAA management advised us that they are aware of
the existence of incorrect balances in the budgetary accounts (e.g., the
$9.9 billion unobligated authority recorded in expired appropriations)
and the need to examine the processing used to record fund authority
and usage transactions in DAFIS. However, they have not been able
to allocate the resources needed to resolve the discrepancies.

uUntil these material discrepancies are resolved and corrective actions
taken, management does not have adequate controls in place to ensure
accurate accounting for budget execution results to OMB. Correcting
this control deficiency is critical to the success of future financial
statement audits because OMB is placing more emphasis on
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Unexpended Appropriation. Currently, Federal agencies are required
to report Unexpended Appropriation and four other net position line
items on the financial statement. Under OMB Bulletin No. 97-01,
effective FY 1998, the other four line items will be combined into one.
Meanwhile, Unexpended Appropriation stays intact and will have to
be reconciled to unobligated authority and undelivered orders.

Recommendations

We recommend that FAA:

1. Revise the processing used to record fund authority and usage
transactions in DAFIS.

2. Establish procedures to ensure budget execution results reported

on the monthly SF-133 are reconciled to both budgetary and
proprietary account balances recorded in DAFIS.

3. Correct general ledger account balances in DAFIS for unobligated
authority and undelivered orders.

4. Submit a revised SF-133 report, if needed, as a result of the
reconciliation.

Management Response

FAA concurred with the finding and recommendations. The internal
coordination processes for the SF-133 reports were reviewed and
informal procedures were developed on March 10, 1997, to improve the
preparation and submission of the reports. The general ledger
balances for the proprietary and budgetary accounts for all FAA
appropriations are currently being analyzed to determine amounts and
causes of any imbalances. All adjustments will be completed to ensure
the proper presentation of the FY 1997 financial statements. Not later
than July 1, 1997, new procedures will be issued for the monthly
reconciliation of unexpended appropriations with the SF-133
budgetary accounts, changes to the SF-133 process, and reconciliation
of yearend reports. The regional accounting offices were instructed on
March 6, 1997, to reconcile obligations with airports offices to ensure
the budgetary data in DAFIS are accurate. All adjustments identified
will be entered in DAFIS prior to preparation of the monthly SF-133s.
Revised SF-133s will be submitted if necessary.

Audit Comments
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Actions taken and planned by FAA meet the intent of our
recommendations. However, we would appreciate being apprised of
the results of the analysis of general ledger balances for the
proprietary and budgetary accounts, including the amounts and causes
of any imbalances, and any adjustments entered in DAFIS.

F. Accounts Payable Liabilities

About 50 percent of FAA’s accounts payable liabilities included in the
DAFIS subsidiary ledger file were not valid. This occurred because
FAA (a) did not reduce the accounts payable liabilities when progress
payments were made and (b) prematurely recorded accounts payable
liabilities before goods and services were received. As a result, FAA
overstated accounts payable and understated unexpended
appropriation balances on the draft Statement of Financial Position by
approximately $293 million. FAA subsequently adjusted the financial
statement to correct the account balances.

Discussion

SFFAS Number 1, “Accounting for Selected Assets and Liabilities,”
requires agencies to recognize accounts payable liabilities only for
“. . .goods and services received from, progress in contract performance
made by, and rents due to other entities.” Appendix A of this standard
clearly distinguishes between recording obligations for budget
purposes and recognizing a liability for financial accounting purposes.
Under the standard, accounts payable liabilities are to be reduced by
the amount of progress payments.

As of September 30, 1996, FAA had 83,755 accounts payable totaling
$543 million in one of the key DAFIS subsidiary ledger files--the Open
Document File (ODF). We selected a statistical sample of 217 valued
at $243 million or 45 percent of the accounts payable recorded in ODF
for testing and found $107.5 million were not properly recorded.
However, we did not find any instances where this improper recording
of accounts payable resulted in improper payments to vendors or other
entities. Based on our sample results, we project with 95 percent
confidence that FAA overstated its account payable liability by
$293 million (plus or minus $43 million) on the draft Statement of
Financial Position.
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These accounts payable liabilities were improperly recorded for two
reasons. First, FAA was not reducing the accounts payable balance by
the amount of its progress payments. Of the $107.5 million of
improperly recorded accounts payables included in our sample,
$100 million resulted from the processing of progress payments made
by FAA. According to FAA accounting personnel, they were using the
transaction codes provided in the DAFIS User Guide to process
progress payments. These transaction codes effectively recorded the
accounts payable liability but did not reduce it when FAA made
progress payments. Therefore, the full liability remained on the
accounting records. When FAA accounting personnel discovered this
processing error in 1996, they informed Oklahoma City DAFIS
personnel. However, DAFIS personnel were not able to implement a
new procedure using different transaction codes to properly process
progress payments until after yearend.

Second, contrary to SFFAS Number 1, FAA was recording an accounts
payable liability when only an obligation should have been recorded
for budgetary purposes because goods and services had not been
received. Of the $107.5 million of improperly recorded accounts
payable included in our sample, $7.5 million resulted from this
practice. The $7.5 million consists of $7 million in miscellaneous
procurements and $.5 million in Permanent Change of Station (PCS)
moves. This practice has been used for years because of the emphasis
placed on budgetary accounting versus proprietary accounting in the
Federal Government. FAA'’s accounting staff had not been adequately
trained to differentiate between the recording of an obligation for
budget purposes and recording a liability for financial accounting
purposes. FAA’'s Headquarters staff was responsible for about $4.7 of
the $7.5 million of improperly recorded accounts payable and the
regional staffs were responsible for the remaining amount. Based on
FAA's review of Headquarters records, FAA agreed the $4.5 million
related to miscellaneous procurements were invalid and also requested
the regions to conduct a similar review.

During the audit, FAA officials initiated aggressive corrective action to
resolve these two areas. FAA accelerated its examination of
procurement records and progress payments to purify the accounts
payable liabilities included in the ODF. FAA reduced the accounts
payable by $293 million and increased unexpended appropriations by
$293 million on the financial statement.
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We commend FAA on these aggressive corrective actions. However,
problems of this nature would have been detected and corrected more
timely if FAA had procedures and controls to better monitor its
accounts payables. This monitoring can best be achieved through the
production of management exception reports. For example, FAA does
not currently require the periodic preparation and review of an aging
accounts payable report. If such a report were prepared and reviewed,
many of the problems associated with the recording of accounts
payable would have been identified by FAA.

Recommendations

We recommend that FAA:

1. Continue its research of procurement records and progress
payments and adjust the ODF records accordingly.

2. Provide detailed written instructions to accounting staff concerning
the proper recording of accounts payable liabilities with emphasis
on the receipt of goods and services.

3. Establish procedures and controls to better monitor the validity of
accounts payables recorded in DAFIS such as the development and
use of an aging report.

Management Response

FAA concurred with one recommendation and partially concurred with
two recommendations. FAA personnel researched the 147 invalid
items identified during the audit and concluded 56 items totaling
$96.5 million have been deobligated or otherwise resolved subsequent
to September 30, 1996, and 5 additional items totaling $5.3 million
will be reversed. With respect to the progress payments totaling
$96.3 million, FAA Headquarters identified the problems associated
with the DAFIS transaction code early in 1996 and initiated a change
in the transaction and financial activity codes associated with progress
payments. Unfortunately, the changes were not effected until after
the close of FY 1996. FAA considers PCS transactions as liabilities
because the occurrence of a liability is eminent and is a material
amount. By April 30, 1997, FAA will seek a DOT-wide policy on the
proper accounting treatment of PCS transactions. By May 15, 1997,
FAA will submit a DAFIS change request for the development of an
on-line exception file on aged accounts payable documents.
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Audit Comments

The actions taken and planned by FAA meet the intent of our
recommendations.

REPORTABLE CONDITIONS

G. Yearend Accrued Liabilities

FAA has not established adequate procedures to accrue total liabilities
for goods and services received at yearend. This occurred because
FAA’s new accrual procedure disregarded goods and services that had
not been invoiced. As a result, FAA understated the Accounts Payable
and overstated Unexpended Appropriation line items in the draft
Statement of Financial Position by approximately $163 million. FAA
subsequently adjusted the financial statement to include the
$163 million.

Discussion

SFFAS Number 1 requires agencies to recognize a liability for the
unpaid amount of the goods to which agencies have accepted title. If
invoices for those goods are not available when financial statements
are prepared, the amounts owed should be estimated.

During the audit of the FY 1996 Financial Statements, FAA
Headquarters accounting office implemented a new procedure to
recognize a liability for the unpaid amount of goods and services
recorded in Headquarters Invoice Tracking System. By using this
procedure, FAA recorded $133 million of yearend accrued liabilities in
the DAFIS Open Document File before yearend closing. This
significantly improved the accuracy of FAA'’s financial statement
reporting. However, our test for unrecorded liabilities indicated this
process should be expanded to include an estimate for “uninvoiced”
deliveries, as required by SFFAS Number 1.

Our test for wunrecorded liabilities included disbursements of
$937 million made in October and November 1996. We selected a
statistical sample of $280 million of payments made during this time
by FAA regions, two centers, and Headquarters Offices. We found
$70 million of sampled payments were for uninvoiced goods/services
delivered in FY 1996 but were not included in the $133 million accrual
recorded by Headquarters. Based on these results, we project with
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95 percent confidence that $296 million (plus or minus $63 million) of
estimated liabilities and expenses should have been accrued by FAA
for financial statement reporting. As a result, FAA understated the
Accounts Payable and overstated Unexpended Appropriations line
items by about $163 million ($296 million projected less $133 million
already accrued by FAA) on the draft financial statements. FAA
subsequently adjusted the financial statement to include the
$163 million.

This occurred because FAA’s new procedure was limited to using only
unpaid invoices recorded in the Invoice Tracking System at yearend to
develop the estimated accrual. This procedure failed to consider goods
and services received but had not yet been invoiced. By not estimating
for the uninvoiced services received, only part of the liability is being
accrued.

Recommendation

We recommend FAA revise its procedures to include in the accrued
liabilities amount an estimate for goods and services received but not
invoiced by yearend.

Management Response

FAA concurred with the finding and recommendation. FAA will revise
procedures to estimate the value of goods and services received for
which no invoices have been rendered at fiscal yearend. Accounting
offices will review October and November transactions to make a prior
year projection of uninvoiced goods and services received. This will be
implemented for FY 1997.

Audit Comments

Actions planned by FAA satisfy our recommendation and the
recommendation is consider resolved.

H. Capital Leases and Leasehold Improvements

FAA did not adequately identify and account for capital leases and
leasehold improvements and alterations. This occurred because FAA
did not (a) issue procedures for identifying and accounting for capital
leases or (b) implement the existing requirement for capitalizing
leasehold improvements and alterations. As a result, assets under
capital lease reported at $103.9 million may have been understated

1-37



and expenses may have been overstated by an unknown amount on
the FY 1996 FAA Financial Statement.

Discussion

OMB Bulletin Number 94-01 and SFFAS Number 6 define capital
leases as leases that transfer substantially all the benefits and risks of
ownership to the lessee. A lease should be classified as a capital lease
if, at its inception, one or more of the following four criteria is met.

- The lease transfers ownership of the property to the
lessee by the end of the lease term.

- The lease contains an option to purchase the leased
property at a bargain price.

- The lease term is equal to or greater than 75 percent of
the estimated economic life of the leased property.

- The present value of rental and other minimum lease
payments, excluding that portion of the payments
representing executory cost, equals or exceeds 90 percent
of the fair value of the leased property.

FAA Order 2700.31, Paragraph 103, requires the costs of
iImprovements to be capitalized as leasehold improvements when
(a) the estimated useful life is longer than a year and (b) the
iImprovements are made to leased properties, or to properties occupied
by FAA and owned by another Government agency.

In our Supplementary Report of Internal Control Systems and
Compliance Related to the Airport & Airway Trust Fund Portion of
FAA’'s FY 1993 Financial Statement (Report No. AD-FA-5-005), we
found capital leases may have been inappropriately expensed. We
recommended FAA (a) promptly advise all FAA accounting personnel
of the criteria and procedures for capitalizing leases and (b) revise
FAA Order 2700.31 to properly distinguish between capital and
operating leases. FAA management agreed to advise accounting
offices of the distinction between capital and operating leases and
Issue guidance on capitalizing leases by May 1995. In addition, FAA
agreed to revise FAA Order 2700.31 by September 1995.

Capital Leases
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We reviewed a total of 65 operating leases at FAA's Eastern Region,
Central Region, and the Mike Monroney Aeronautical Center. We
found 22 of 65 operating leases potentially met the criteria to be
reported as capital leases. The 22 potential capital leases represented
annual payments totaling $4,111,886. We were unable to determine
whether the 22 leases were capital leases because the files did not
include the estimated economic life or the fair value of the properties
at the inception of the lease as required by SFFAS Number 6. If any of
the 22 operating leases are capital leases, then assets and liabilities
reported on the FY 1996 FAA Financial Statement will be understated
and will not accurately reflect FAA's capital lease commitments.

In June 1995, FAA Headquarters issued a guidance memorandum to
its field offices in response to our prior audit recommendations. In the
memorandum, FAA identified the criteria for distinguishing capital
leases from operating leases and stipulated that FAA Order 2700.31
would be updated to include this criteria. However, we found a revised
order was never issued. Instead, we were informed by FAA officials
that a contractor had been hired to complete the revision by
September 1997. The contractor will include the criteria to distinguish
between capital and operating leases and will also develop new
procedures for reporting and accounting for capital leases.

Leasehold Improvements and Alterations

We found 7 of the 65 operating leases reviewed had a total of $597,969
in leasehold improvements and alterations that were not capitalized.
We interviewed personnel in the Eastern and Central Regions and
found FAA Order 2700.31 was not being followed. According to the
regional officials, they were not aware of the capitalization
requirement in the order. As a result, the proper capitalization of
leasehold improvements and alterations was not possible, and FAA'’s
operating expenses in their FY 1996 Financial Statement were
overstated.

Actions Needed

Although FAA had promised to issue procedures on capitalizing leases
by May 1995, we found procedures had not been issued and the
identification of capital leases continued to be a problem. We also
found leasehold improvements and alterations were not being
capitalized properly. FAA should improve its identification,
accounting for, and reporting of, capital leases as well as the
capitalization of leasehold improvements and alterations. This will
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ensure future financial statements more accurately reflect FAA's
assets, liabilities, and expenses.

Recommendations

We recommend that FAA:

1. Promptly revise FAA Order 2700.31 to include procedures for
identifying, accounting for, and reporting capital leases.

2. Determine fair value and economic life (at the time of inception) for
the 22 potential capital leases included in our sample.

3. Determine if any existing leases should be classified as capital
leases.

4. Develop a plan to ensure all future leases are properly evaluated
and classified as either a capital lease or an operating lease at their
inception.

5. Implement the existing requirement to ensure leasehold
improvements and alterations are properly capitalized.

Management Response

FAA concurred with the finding and recommendations. FAA will
revise FAA Order 2700.31. The regions will be instructed to document
fair value and economic life for the 22 potential capital leases
identified by the audit. Guidance will be provided to all regional real
estate offices to ensure the proper identification of capital leases. The
requirements of OMB Circulars A-11 and A-94 will be reinforced and
any additional guidance needed will be provided. Additional guidance
will be issued to reinforce the requirements for the capitalization of
leasehold improvements. All corrective actions are scheduled to be
completed by September 30, 1997.

Audit Comments

The actions taken and planned by FAA meet the intent of our
recommendations. However, we are clarifying the scope of
Recommendation 3 to determine if any leases, in addition to the 22 we
identified, should be classified as capital leases.

REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
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OMB guidance for implementing the audit provisions of the CFO Act, as
amended by the Government Management Reform Act, requires auditors to
assess the reporting entity's compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. Compliance with laws and regulations is the responsibility of
FAA.

In order to obtain reasonable assurance on whether the FAA Statement of
Financial Position is free of material misstatements, we tested compliance
with the laws and regulations directly affecting the financial statement and
certain other laws and regulations designated by OMB. Our objective was
not to provide an opinion on overall compliance with these provisions.

Material instances of noncompliance are failures to follow requirements or
violations of prohibitions contained in laws or regulations which cause us to
conclude that the aggregation of the misstatements resulting from those
failures or violations is material to the principal statements or the sensitivity
of the matters would cause them to be perceived as significant by others.

We evaluated the existence and completeness assertions for the information
presented in the Draft 1996 FAA Annual Report, and the consistency of this
information with FAA’s implementation efforts under the Government
Performance and Results Act (GPRA). We concluded the information in
Chapters 1 (Overview), 2 (Mission Performance Indicators), and 3 (FY 1996
Financial Highlights) of the Draft 1996 FAA Annual Report was not
presented as performance measures, as described by the OMB Form and
Content Bulletins, and was not consistent with FAA’'s GPRA implementation
efforts.

FAA recognizes the need to integrate the GPRA performance measures into
their annual report and will do so once the measures are refined and
supported by auditable and verifiable data. We will work with FAA to
ensure their performance measures accomplish the objectives of the GPRA.
Therefore, we are not making any recommendations regarding the
information presented as performance measures in the FY 1996 FAA
Financial Statement at this time.

In addition, except for the noncompliances discussed in the Report on
Internal Control Structure section of this report, FAA complied, in all
material respects, with the provisions of the laws and regulations directly
affecting the Statement of Financial Position as of September 30, 1996.
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PRIOR AUDIT COVERAGE

The OIG issued audit reports on the FAA Financial Statements for FYs 1992,
1993, 1994, and 1995. The FYs 1992 and 1993 audits were limited to the
Airport and Airway Trust Fund portion of the FAA Financial Statements.
The FYs 1994 and 1995 audits included all FAA funding and activities, but
were limited to the Statements of Financial Position.

The FY 1992 audit report included 25 recommendations, all of which are
considered resolved. However, efforts still are in process to complete actions
on 12 recommendations. These recommendations concern processing fund
usage transactions for commercial payments and reimbursable agreements,
reconciliation of the Purchases-in-Transit account at yearend, and posting of
prior year fund usage in the current year. Three of the recommendations
involve changes to the DAFIS system.

The FY 1993 audit report included 44 recommendations, all of which are
considered resolved. However, efforts are still in process to complete actions
on 23 recommendations. These recommendations include capitalization of
assets, posting F&E transactions to the Purchases-in-Transit account,
physical inventory procedures, and reconciliations of the Work-in-Process
account. Additional information regarding the open recommendations is
included in the Report on Internal Control Structure section of this report.

The FYs 1994 and 1995 audit reports did not include any recommendations.
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This report is intended to inform Congress, OMB, and those with FAA
management responsibility. This restriction is not intended to limit the
distribution of this report, which is a matter of public record.

etk

goyce N. Fleischman
Acting Inspector General
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Attachment
(17 pages)

Q Memorandum

U.S. Department
of Transportation

Federal Avidtion
Administration

AR 21 19¢
subject: INFORMATION: Discussion Draft Report on FAA Date MAR 997
FY 1996 Financial Statement
. . . i \ Reply to L
From:  Acting Chief Financial Officer © Aun.of: - AWilliams:
267-9000

To: Director, Office of Transportation Program Audits

Attached are the FAA comments to the discussion draft findings in response to your
memorandum, subject as above, dated March 17. Please incorporate these comments
into your final report.

Please let me know if you would like to discuss our comments or if you need any
additional information.

)ﬂzé -

Joel C. Taub

Attachment

I-44



Attachment

Federal Aviation Administration (FAA)
Comments on the Office of Inspector General (OIG)
Discussion Draft Report on FAA FY 1996 Financial Statement

MATERIAL WEAKNESSES

A. Operating Materials and Supplies
Finding: Operating materials and supplies reported at $432 million were not adequately
supported and could not be substantiated through audit testing.

Recommendations:

1. Perform a one-time wall-to-wall physical inventory of the FAA Logistics Center
(FAALCQC) operating materials and supplies.

FAA Response: Concur. The FAA will perform a wall-to-wall physical inventory of
the FAALC operating materials and supplies in FY 1997 to establish a baseline. We are
in the process of finalizing a proposed statement of work for the Volpe/Coopers Team to
prepare a detailed plan within 30 days for conducting the physical inventory. We will
coordinate this plan with the OIG. One hundred percent of the Facilities and Equipment
(F&E) project materiel, aircraft parts, and ground exchange and repair (E&R) items will
be inventoried in FY 1997. This represents 90 percent of the inventory dollar value and
36 percent of the line items stored at FAALC. Since 92 percent of the expendable items
have an annual demand of less than $500, the relative dollar value will influence how to
take a cost-effective inventory.

2. Perform an annual physical inventory of field spares as required by FAA Order
4250.9B. Before initiating the physical inventory. develop a plan which details the
procedures to be used and provide the plans to the OIG for review and comment.

FAA Response: Concur. As mentioned in response 1, FAA is in the process of
finalizing a proposed statement of work for the Volpe/Coopers Team to prepare a
detailed plan for conducting the physical inventory of field spares. Considering that
there are 34,000 sites and the degree of dispersion of concentration of these items, the
physical inventory will cover a high percentage of the regions’ field spares measured
primarily by dollar value (and secondarily by item count). FAA will coordinate this
plan with the OIG.

3. Revise Process Guide 4650.19 to comply with DOT policy guidance on Inventory
and Related Property requiring physical counts on all items at least every 3 years.
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FAA Response: Concur. FAA has an agency directive, 4633.1 which is in the process
of being updated to incorporate both recommendations 3 and 4. The Process Guide
4650.19 is an internal FAALC document. However, the local process guide will be
updated to reflect the changes to 4633.1

4. Implement physical inventory recommendations made in our supplementary report
(AD-FA-5-005) to FAA’s FY 1993 financial statement.

FAA Response: Concur. FAA will complete impJ_ementation of the following
recommendations that are contained in AD-FA-5-005.

o Change FAA Order 4633.1 to: (a) clarify the meaning of the completion of
the inventory count by reducing the total number of physical counts permitted to no
more than three.; (b) require posting the adjustments to the Logistics Information
System (LIS) inventory balances immediately upon completing the third count; and (c)
provide the follow-up detailed reset after adjustments are posted to determine reasons
for discrepancies.

o Change FAA Order 4633.1 to specify a reasonable period for making physical
inventory counts (three counts) and posting adjustments (e.g., 2-4 weeks).

o Minimize the use of freeze tapes during the period the counts are being made
and limit physical inventory movements to emergency issuance only at locations being
counted.

o Enforce proper segregation of duties by eliminating counters access to
recorded balances in LIS.

o Modify LIS to permit entry of no more than three counts before the LIS “Third
Count Comparison Report” is compiled. Adjustments made to the final count should be
processed as error corrections subject to management review and approval.

5. Record line item unit prices at historical cost and maintain invoices or other
documentation to support price changes.

FAA Response: Concur. FAA will modify LIS in FY 1997 to add a doliar amount
field to capture the historical cost for centrally (Washington headquarters) procured
items and purchase order/contract price for items procured by the Mike Monroney
Aeronautical Center(MMAC)/FAALC. This is a temporary fix until we can build an
interface between the Departmental Accounting and Financial Information System
(DAFIS) and LIS. Key data elements to the systems/files together have been identified
by Washington headquarters and estimates for the number of man-hours have been
provided by MMAC/FAALC. The system will be modified to accommodate both
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standard cost for pricing issues such as the Integrated Materiel Management (IMM)
agreement items and historical cost.

6. Identify excess, obsolete and unserviceable items in Logistics Center and field
inventories and promptly initiate disposal action.

FAA Response: Concur. Identification and disposition plan of actions for excess,
unserviceable, and unrequired items will be included in the wall-to-wall inventory.
Many old FAA systems, which are obsolete by today’s standards, are still in operation
and must be supported by FAALC. Therefore, we cannot dispose of such obsolete
items.

7. Establish subsidiary records to account for operating materials and supplies (field
spares) and ensure the recorded balances are disclosed in the Statement of Financial
Position in compliance with reporting requirements in SFFAS No. 3.

FAA Response: Partially concur. FAA will determine whether any system
modifications would be necessary to enable the LIS/Field Spares Inventory (FSI) to
serve as the regions’ operating materials and supplies counting, and possible tracking
system, as part of the inventory-taking plan. In 1992, a 100 percent inventory was
conducted to establish a baseline for the field spares inventory. As indicated in the
response to recommendation 2, in FY 1997 we will conduct another inventory which
will serve as the baseline. We plan to utilize a periodic method for future operating
materials and supplies/field spares inventories. This is an acceptable accounting method
and would eliminate the need to establish a subsidiary record.

8. Reconcile general ledger account balances to subsidiary records and ensure an
adequate audit trail is maintained supporting the reconciled balances.

FAA Response: Concur. A reconciliation was performed from 1992 to 1996 on a
monthly basis and adjustments to the DAFIS general ledger were made regularly.
During FY 1996, personnel changes in the accounting area resulted in a discontinuance
of the DAFIS adjustment. As part of the yearend close-out during the grace period, two
fiscal years are maintained simultaneously. An adjustment to bring the accounts into
agreement will be made by May 31, 1997.

Unfortunately, the FY 1996 adjustment was not recorded to the proper fiscal year.
MMAC has reinstituted the monthly reconciliation process. In addition, an analysis to
determine needed improvements in the processing of data between DAFIS and LIS will
be initiated by September 30, 1997.
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B. Capitalization of Equipment Purchase Costs

FINDING: FAA expensed equipment purchase costs for major system acquisitions
which should have been capitalized.

FAA Comments on Finding: We determined after reviewing equipment purchases
under FAA contract that only $14,626,884 of the total $172,637,026 cited as being
improperly charged to operating expense was in fact misclassified. Therefore, we
recommend this finding be considered a reportable condition. The following is a
breakdown of our review: h

$60,366,756 represented part of the yearend accruals. This amount was reversed
in FY 1997.

$43,042,247 represented settlement payments on the Advanced Automation
System contract termination.

$4,252,964 represented payments for support services provided to various FAA
lines of business. The applicable contract line item numbers clearly indicated the
procurement of support services and not equipment.

$1,270,946 represented a progress payment improperly recorded as operating
expense. However, the payment was reclassified as a progress payment in May 1996.

$49,077,230 represents six progress payments which were intentionally recorded
as operating expense at the time of payment pending the establishment of 2 new DAFIS
transaction code to accurately record progress payments. The transaction code was not
established until October 1996. However, these payments were presented on the
financial statements as progress payments, not operating expense. The payments have
subsequently been moved to the progress payment account.

Disposition of the $14,626,884 that were improperly classified is as follows:
$3,982,330 was corrected in March 1997.
$10,644,554 has been reviewed by the Accounting Operations Division
(ABA-200). Assistance is being sought from the business and program managers to

obtain the necessary detailed information to effect proper classification of these items.

We also reviewed equipment purchases under other Government agency contracts in the
amount of $152,716,455. The following is an analysis of our review:
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$68,112,904 represents expenditures on an agreement with the U.S. Air Force.
ABA-200 began a review of this agreement in August 1996 and requested assistance
from the program office to identify total capital expenditures and capitalizable cost by
site. A contractor employed by the program office recently provided ABA-200 an
extensive report reflecting the detailed information necessary to correctly record these
transactions in DAFIS. This will be accomplished by April 15, 1997.

$63,849,050 represents FAA expenditures on an interagency agreement with the
Department of Commerce (DOC) on the Next Gengration Weather System (NEXRAD).
These assets are owned by the DOC and nearly all of the equipment acquired to date has
been recorded by DOC. FAA program management has not yet determined what
percentage represents capital assets of the FAA. ABA-200 will continue to work with
the program managers until such determination is made.

The remaining $20,754,501 are being reviewed. This action will be completed
by May 1, 1997.

Recommendations:
1. Finalize and implement the consultant’s recommendations on classifying and

accounting for progress payments, common project costs, and contract line item
numbers on FAA F&E contracts.

FAA Response: Concur. FAA is in the process of completing an Integrated OIG
Corrective Actions Plan to implement the recommendations contained in the
contractor’s report. These recommendations are scheduled for completion by
September 30, 1997.

2. Include equipment purchased under interagency agreements in the procedures
implemented under Recommendation 1.

FAA Response: Same as response to recommendation 1.

3. Ensure that all key personnel receive training on the consultant’s procedures for
capitalizing equipment purchases.

FAA Response: Same as response to recommendation 1.

4. Implement procedures to ensure purchase orders and contracts are structured to
clearly identify and distinguish property and equipment, common costs, operating
materials and supplies, field spares, and expenses. These procedures should also address
purchases with contracts managed by other Government agencies through interagency
agreements.
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FAA Response: Same as response to recommendation 1.

5. Review F&E transactions charged to Operating Expenses (about $4.5 billion) on the
Statements of Operations for FYs 1995 and 1996 and capitalize the appropriate portion
of the equipment purchase costs.

FAA Response: Nonconcur. We do not believe the resource expenditure required to
complete this recommendation can be justified. FAA has disclosed in notes to the
financial statements that operating expenses may be overstated and capital assets may be
understated. We believe that adequate tools to assist accounting, financial, and program
management personnel in the identification and recording of capital assets are now
available. In addition, the consultant has developed a matrix which is being used by
accounting personnel as a guide in determining capitalizable cost. New guidance has
also been prepared for program personnel who prepare the original procurement
documents . When used together, we believe the problem of misclassified costs will be
eliminated.

The consultant also held group discussion sessions for all regional accounting and
logistics personnel in June 1996 and for key accounting personnel in January 1997.
C. Property and Equipment

Finding: Real and personal property reported at $5.14 billion were not adequately
supported and could not be substantiated through audit testing.

Recommendations:

1. Conduct a phvsical inventory of all real property and adjust the subsidiary records
and DAFIS accordingly.

FAA Response: Concur. Conducting a complete physical inventory of real property
located at approximately 15,000 sites at this time is not cost effective. The Office of
Acquisitions (ASU) is implementing the Real Estate Management System (REMS)
during FY 1997 to replace the current Real Property Record (RPR) system. Any
inventory done prior to full implementation of the REMS would require a duplication of
work because data would have to be loaded into both the RPR system and the REMS.

ASU will develop a detailed plan for conducting an inventory of real property. This
plan will be coordinated with the OIG. The scheduled completion date for this action
will be 60 days from the date of the final audit report.
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The regional accounting records will be adjusted as the physical inventory is completed
at each site.

2. Comply with FAA Order 2700.31 for the reconciliation of DAFIS real property
accounts to the subsidiary records at each reporting unit.

FAA Response: Concur. The Office of Financial Services (ABA) will develop an
automated process for reconciliation of the records. The scheduled completion date for
this action is September 30, 1997. N
3. Ensure subsidiary records are adjusted timely when real property is acquired,
disposed, destroved, or physically removed from the site.

FAA Response: Concur. ABA, ASU, and Airway Facilities will jointly develop
capitalization procedures that will include appropriate time-frames for timely adjustment
of records when real property is acquired, disposed, or physically removed from the site.
The scheduled completion date for this action is September 30, 1997.

4. Implement the contractor’s recommendations associated with PPIMS.

FAA Response: Partially Concur. (a) The Regional Project Materiel Management
System (RPMMS) is capable of maintaining a historical file. This file would be added
to the application to ensure a complete audit trail for financial management purposes.
This file would link to the PPIMS application through the use of the job order number
(JON). The JON is maintained within both applications. This would accomplish the
overriding purposes of ensuring an audit trail for F&E projects. In addition, if the
recommendation in recommendation 6 is followed, we will also be able to provide the
auditors auditable records (albeit, manual ones). The scheduled completion date for this
action is July 31, 1997.

(b) We already have a centralized catalog system.

5. Require regional F&E project materiel managers to furnish documentation necessary
to adequately identify and support the value of personal property.

FAA Response: Concur. We will stress to all organizations the requirement to have
and maintain the Facility Reference Data File (FRDF), as well s the need to include
closeout packages in the file. The scheduled completion date for this action is

July 1, 1997.

6. Notifv all organizational components of the need to retain supporting documentation
associated with personal propertv recorded in PPIMS and include it in the Facility
Reference Data File.
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FAA Response: Same as response to recommendation 5.

7. Discontinue the practice of recording readily identifiable property and equipment
(e.g.. items with serial numbers) as facility equipment in PPIMS.

FAA Response: Partially concur. This requires a major modification to an old system
which will soon be replaced. In addition, the return on our investment is questionable,
especially if the systems modification to RPMMS is made. The requirement is to ensure
the detail of the facility is available for auditing and decommissioning purposes. By
developing a historical file within RPMMS, and including the closeout packages in the
FRDF, these requirements would be met.

D. Work-in-Process (WIP) Account

FINDING: FAA did not have adequate documentation to support the $2.8 billion
balance reflected in the WIP general ledger account.

Recommendations:

1. Implement the recommendations to improve the WIP process contained in the
contractor’s draft report.

FAA Response: Concur. FAA is in the process of completing an Integrated OIG
Corrective Actions Plan to implement the recommendations contained in the
contractor’s report. For example, FAA plans to implement the following by the end of
FY 1997.
o Establish a WIP baseline.
o Develop WIP policy and procedures that address contractor labor cost,
capitalization/close-out, and reconciliation between the 32-9 report
and DAFIS.
o Enhance the automated reconciliation process that was developed
and implemented in August 1996.
o Capitalize and close-out JONs with expiring appropriations.
o Establish and implement oversight and performance metrics for WIP.

2. Determine if the 32-9F report can be reconciled with the WIP account. If not, FAA
should seek an alternative. such as using DAFIS transactions posted to the WIP account
to create a separate subsidiary ledger database.
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FAA Response: Concur. FAA will use one of the following alternatives to correct the
WIP material internal control weakness by the end of FY 1997. The alternatives are as
follows:

o Alternative Number 1: Direct request to MMAC to create a separate
subsidiary ledger database and populate the database with detail transactions that support
each dollar amount field that is on the current 32-9F report.

o Alternative Number 2: prepare a DAFIS System change request (SCR) to the
Office of Financial Management (B-30) to create a separate subsidiary ledger database.

o Alternative Number 3: Develop a 32-9F subsidiary ledger database external to
DAFIS.

E. Budget and Financial Statement Report Reconciliation
FINDING: FAA did not have adequate controls in place to_(a) ensure consistency of

Unexpended Appropriations reported on financial statement and related budgetary
reports. and (b) resolve discrepancies in key budgetary accounts.

Recommendations:

1. Revise the processing used to record fund authority and usage transaction in DAFIS.

FAA Response: Concur: The Financial Statements, Control, and Analysis Branch
ABA-310 ; the Review and Coordination Branch, ABA-120; and the Operations and
Capital Budget Divisions, ABA-400/500 reviewed the current internal coordination
process for the Report on Budget Execution, SF-133 and the Apportionment and
Reapportionment Schedule, SF-132. Informal procedures were developed on

March 10, 1997 to ensure ABA-120 submits advance copies of sequentially numbered
SF-132’s to ABA-310, followed by an official copy annotated with the appropriate
public law. ABA-310 now maintains a copy of the ABA-120 log for SF-132’s and will
verify on at least on a quarterly basis with ABA-120 that all SF-132’s are on file.
Additionally, the monthly review of the SF-133, Report on Budget Execution, now in
place by our budget office prior to submission will provide an additional check that the
most recent SF-132 is recorded.

ABA-310 is currently performing an analysis of the current balances of general ledger
account (GLA) 31AX, Unexpended Appropriations (a proprietary account) and the
corresponding budgetary accounts for the SF-133, including lines 9 (unobligated
allotment), line 10 (unobligated balances not available), line 14B (unfilled customer
orders) and line 14C (undelivered orders) for all FAA appropriations to ascertain
amounts of imbalance. Further analyses will be made to determine the cause of such
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imbalances such as improper yearend closing of DAFIS accounts or the use of improper
transaction codes. ABA-310 will adjust GLAs for known discrepancies, if appropriate
DAFIS transaction codes are available. ABA-310 will request, through B-30,
adjustments to DAFIS if appropriate transaction codes to affect the changes are not
available. Any final reconciliation of GLAs that cannot be identified and corrected in
DAFIS by fiscal yearend, will be adjusted on the financial statement module to ensure
proper balances are presented on the FY 1997 financial statements.

2. Establish procedures to ensure budget execution results reported on the monthly

SF-133 are reconciled to both budgetary and proprietary account balances recorded in
DAFIS.

FAA Response: Concur: We have implemented, effective with February month-end
reporting, new procedures requested by the Office of Budget and Program Performance
for preparation of the SF-133 including: (1) use of a standardized format for the
Department, (2) review of the report before submission by our budget office, and (3)
submission of the reports by the 20" of each month. Additionally we will issue written
procedures to begin not later than July 1, 1997, for: (1) monthly reconciliation of
unexpended appropriations with the SF-133 budgetary accounts prior to preparation of
the monthly SF-133’s; (2) the previously mentioned changes to the SF-133 process; and
(3) yearend procedures to insures reconciliation of yearend reports including the FMS
2108, Yearend Closing Statement, SF-133, and the financial statements.

In addition, a study is currently underway to determine the feasibility of recording
transactions, including obligations, commitments and plans, for the Airport
Improvement Program (AIP) through an interface with an existing system operated by
the Office of Airport Planning and Programming. In the interim, a reconciliation of AIP
obligation transactions is nearly completed. Revised yearend SF-133 and FMS-2108
reports will be produced when the reconciliation is completed. Additionally, a memo
was issued on March 6, 1997,. to regional accounting offices requiring a monthly
reconciliation of obligations with their airports offices effective with the March monthly
closeout to ensure that budgetary data contained in DAFIS is accurate. A similar memo
will be issued by the Associate Administrator for Airports to the regional airports offices
stating the same requirement.

3. Correct general ledeer account balances in DAFIS for unobligated authority and
undelivered orders.

FAA Response: Concur. This will be a follow-on action to the three steps mentioned
in our response to recommendation 2. After the reconciliation is complete and
ABA-400/500 concurs with the SF-133s, adjustments, when required, will be entered
into DAFIS prior to preparation of the subsequent month’s SF-133.
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4. Submit a revised SF-133 report, if needed, as a result of the reconciliation.

FAA Response: Concur. Revised SF-133"s will be submitted based on the results of
the review mentioned in our response to recommendation 2

F. Accounts Payable Liabilities

Finding:_About 50 percent of FAA’s accounts payable liabilities included in the DAFIS
subsidiary ledger filed were not valid. N

FAA Comments on Finding: The audit report states that FAA recorded progress
payments without reducing the accounts payable balance by the amount of the payment.
ABA-recognized this deficiency and began work to correct it in early 1996. However,
DAFIS was not modified until October 1996.

DAFIS provides the transaction codes applicable to the recordation of progress
payments. DAFIS required the establishment of an accrued liability equal to the amount
of the progress payment being paid. Further, DAFIS required that the liability remain on
the books until the contract was complete and a final invoice was received. At that time,
the accrued liability would be liquidated.

This procedure has been documented in DAFIS since its implementation in 1982. The
audit report makes no mention of this DAFIS deficiency.

Further, the audit report states that FAA was recording an accounts payable liability and
an obligation at the same time, regardless of whether goods and services had been
received. The recording of an accrued liability does not result in a simultaneous
recording of an undelivered order or any other obligation.

The report mentions that FAA accounting staff had not been trained to differentiate
between the recording of obligations for budget purposes and the recording of a liability
for financial accounting purposes. The Office of Financial Services is arranging for
accounting offices to receive training on the new Statements on Federal Financial
Accounting Standards. It is important to point out that nearly all obligations recorded in
DAFIS are through the automated interface with the System for Acquisition
Management. Only a small percentage are recorded manually.

Recommendations:

1. Continue its research of procurement records and progress payments and adjust the
Open Document File records accordingly.
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FAA Response: Partially concur. FAA personnel have researched the items in the
sample listings that were identified as invalid and have taken the following actions.

Of the 147 invalid items totaling $107.6 million, 56 items totaling $96.5 million

(89.7 percent of the total) have been deobligated or otherwise resolved subsequent to
September 30, 1996. These totals include 7 progress payment transactions totaling
$96.3 million. In addition, 5 items totaling $5.3 million (4.9 percent) will be reversed.
The combined total of items resolved or reversed is almost 95 percent.

With respect to the progress payments for $96.3 million, ABA-200 identified the
problems associated with the use of DAFIS transaction code 060 early in calendar year
1996 and initiated steps to resolve them. These steps culminated in a request for a
change in the transaction and accompanying financial activity codes associated with
progress payments. Unfortunately, the necessary changes were not effected until after
the close of FY 1996. Since that time, ABA-200 has reversed nearly all of the
transactions established as accrued liabilities and placed them in the progress payment
account using the new transaction codes. This includes the $96.3 million identified by
the OIG which was reversed on March 6, 1997.

7. Provide detailed written instructions to accounting staff concerning the proper
recording of accounts payable liabilities with emphasis on the receipt of goods and
services.

FAA Response: Partially concur. Sixteen sample items amounting to $5.3 million
(4.9 percent) are deemed to be valid non-permanent change-of-station (PCS) related
items. Another 69 items amounting to $0.5 million were PCS related items.

FAA considers PCS transactions as agency liabilities because the occurrence of a
liability to the agency is eminent and is a material amount. A significant number of
FAA’s air traffic and airway facilities personnel are required to relocate periodically.
The FAA will seek by April 30, 1997, a DOT-wide policy on the proper accounting
treatment of such transactions from B-30. Appropriate action will be taken after the
policy has been issued.

3. Establish procedures and controls to better monitor the validity of accounts payables

recorded in DAFIS such as the development and use of an aging report.

FAA Response: Concur. FAA will submit a DAFIS SCR to B-30 requesting the
development of an on-line DAFIS exception file to “point and click” on aged accounts
payable documents and to generate reversal entries. The scheduled completion for this
action is May 15, 1997.
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REPORTABLE CONDITIONS
G. Yearend Accrued Liabilities

Finding: FAA has not established adequate procedures to accrue total liabilities for
goods and services received at yearend.

FAA Comments on Finding: ABA-200 has performed an in-depth review of all
invoice activity during FY 1996 yearend and the first 2 months of FY 1997 and
determined the following.

o The estimated value of invoices on hand, unpaid as of September 30, 1996, at
$133 million. This inventory should have been as of October 4, 1996.

o $61,483,157 of the $133 million was paid during the grace period October 1
through 4, 1996.

o $61,517,421 is the value of FY 1996 invoices unpaid and on hand at yearend.
o $10,000,000 was the value of invoices not paid nor included in the inventory.

o $111,169,847 is the value of the FY 1996 invoices received in FY 1997 for
which ABA-200 had no prior knowledge.

o $172,687,268 is the total invoice dollars to be accounted for.

o $133,000,000 is the total estimatef accrual.

o $39,687,268 is the net value of unknown and unac.:crued invoices.
Recommendation:

FAA should revise its procedures to include in the accrued liabilities amount an estimate
for goods and services received but not invoiced by yearend.

FAA Response: Concur. We will revise procedures which will allow for estimating the
value of goods and services received for which no invoices have been rendered at fiscal
yearend. Each accounting office will be instructed to annually review October and
November transactions for computation of a prior year projection of uninvoiced goods
and services received. This amount of uninvoiced goods and services will then be
entered into the financial statement module. This will be implemented for FY 1997.
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H. Capital Leases and Leasehold Improvements

Finding: FAA did not adequately identify and account for capital leases, and leasehold
improvements and alterations.

Recommendations:

1. Promptly revise FAA Order 2700.31 to include procedures for identifying,
accounting for, and reporting capital leases. \

FAA Response: Concur. ABA will revise FAA Order 2700.31. The scheduled
completion date for this action is September 30, 1997.

2. Determine fair value and economic life (at the time of inception for the 22 potential
capital leases included in our sample.

FAA Response: Concur. The regions will be instructed to document fair value and
economic life for all 22 sites. The scheduled completion date for this action is
May 1, 1997.

3. Determine if any existing leases should be classified as capital leases.

FAA Response: Concur. Guidance to ensure proper identification of capital leases will
be provided to all regional real estate offices. The scheduled completion date for this
action is September 30, 1997.

4. Develop a plan to ensure all future leases are properly evaluated and classified as
either a capital lease or an operating lease at their inception.

FAA Response: Concur. ASU will reinforce the requirements of Office of
Management and Budget (OMB) Circulars A-11 and A-94. These circulars provide
guidance on determining capital and operating leases. Any additional guidance that may
be needed will be provided. The scheduled completion date for this action is

September 30, 1997.

5. Implement the existing requirement to ensure leasehold improvements and
alternations are properly capitalized.

FAA Response: Concur. On November 22, 1993, ASU issued guidance to ensure the
requirements for leasehold improvements and alterations were properly capitalized.
This guidance was in response to OIG Report No. AS-FA-3-011 dated April 15, 1993.
ASU will issue additional guidance to reinforce the requirements for capitalization of
leasehold improvements. This guidance will be accomplished in conjunction with
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recommendation 4 above. The scheduled completion date for this action is September
30, 1997.

FAA General Comments: Page II-21, first paragraph, last sentence states “At the
Aeronautical Center, $6.4 million of leasehold improvements are not included in the
property records or supported by adequate documentation.”

Currently, the leasehold improvements are not recorded in the Real Property System.
The MMAC Financial Services and Acquisitions Offices have reconciled the DAFIS
general ledger account to the subsidiary records for 1990 through the present. These
offices are researching the leasehold improvements documentation and DAFIS general
ledger accounting entries prior to 1990. When a final determination is made,
adjustments will be processed.

Page 11-36, Capital Leases, two leases were identified as needing clarification.
Extensive research is being conducted to make the requested determination. Additional
information is required before these decisions can be finalized.

I. Additional FAA General Comments: The audit report, in the section addressed to
the FAA Administrator, states that “We reviewed the information presented in Chapters
1, 2, and 3 of the Draft 1996 FAA Annual Report, and concluded the information in
these sections was not presented as performances measures, so we were unable to
accomplish our fifth audit objective.” This is particularly perplexing since the
performance measures were audited in prior fiscal years. The FY 1993 audit disclosed
as other reportable conditions that FAA needs to develop performance measures for
Trust Fund programs. In the FY 1994 and subsequent annual reports FAA has included
performance measures for AIP. In the FY 1996 report major facility commissionings
were added for the F&E program. The FY 1994 audit report disclosed as other
reportable conditions that FAA had not developed and issued formal written policies and
procedures to ensure the data reported were verifiable. A draft directive was completed
in 1995 by ABA and is currently under review by the Office of Business Information
and Consultation.

As stated in the opening section of the performance indicator chapter of the annual
report, FAA recognized the need to integrate the Government Performance and Results
Act (GPRA) performance measures into the annual report and will do so once the
measures are refined and are supported by auditable and verifiable data. The safety and
efficiency performance measures in the FY 1996 annual report, including accidents,
runway incursions, near mid-air collisions, runway incursions, and system induced
delays, are the same measures identified in the GPRA annual performance plan.
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Instructions for the Overview section in OMB Bulletin 97-01, applicable to FY 1996,
states that agency performance measures “should relate to the programs’ purposes and
goals, be consistent with measures previously included in budget documents and other
materials related to implementation of the GPRA, and linked to the programs presented
in the Statement of Net Cost. The measures in the overview should be limited to the
entity’s most significant program and financial measures.”

FAA’s 1998 Performance Plan, as submitted to the Office of the Secretary and to OMB
November 21, 1996, is written to the agency’s mission performance. FAA’s current
safety and efficiency performance measures are the.agency’s two major missions. While
some FAA programs can be linked exclusively to a specific agency mission (e.g., AIP)
the air traffic program contributes to both the safety mission and the efficiency mission.
Therefore, it is inappropriate to attribute air traffic measures to only one of these
missions. As stated in the annual report, the agency performance measures are stitl
evolving. Linkages to cross reference FAA’s specific mission performance to its
programs are being developed.
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MANAGEMENT REPORT OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

FY 1996 was a year of numerous financial challenges for the FAA. Most notably was the
December 31, 1995, expiration of FAA's authority to collect aviation excise taxes. This lapse of
taxing authority significantly impacted the viability of the Airport and Airway Trust Fund,
causing a reduction in the Trust Fund principal of approximately $3 billion.

Financia reform initiatives are currently underway to enable the FAA to become more business
like and self sufficient. FAA was authorized to collect $75 million in user feesin FY 1997.
Such fees will be assessed on foreign overflights through U.S. airspace. Authority to assess
additional user feesis anticipated in FY 1998.

The Office of Financia Services is developing and implementing a new national project/job
order cost accounting system (CAS) using commercia off-the-shelf (COTS) software. This
system will enable the agency to capture the cost of providing various services to airspace
system users. In addition, the system will provide managers with a wide range of cost
information. CAS will receive and process financial and statistical data from the existing core
departmental accounting and financial, information system and other operational core feeder
systems. The baseline system will be commissioned by September 1997.

FAA travel policy reform was initiated in FY 1996 in light of reform legislation that removed the
agency from the requirements of some parts of Title 5. The task force established to review such
reform developed 22 recommendations which, when fully implemented, will reduce travel costs
for the FAA by amost $6 million annually. One recommendation, to fully automate the travel
voucher process using COTS software, will generate $1,8 million in cost avoidance by reducing
the voucher preparation time and the number of travel voucher examiners. FAA’s Management
Board has concurred with the 22 recommendations, which must go through the formal union
bargaining process before final approval.

FAA has contracted with an independent accounting firm to review, recommend, and assist with
improving the agency’s accounting processes for the entire capital asset acquisition cycle. The
results of this review will enable FAA to establish standardized accounting policies and practices
for capital asset acquisitions. The contract also includes the development of improved
procedures for conducting physical inventories at the FAA Logistics Center and field facilities.

The agency’s future challenge is to seek alternative methods of funding. The aviation excise
taxes will expire on September 30, 1997. This impacts FAA’s ability to rely on the Airport and
Airway Trust Fund as a source of funding and may impact spending in FY 1998. FAA will work
with the National Civil Aviation Review Commission to develop a long-term strategy for
financing the agency.

Questions regarding this annual report may be directed to the Financia Statements, Analysis,
and Control Branch, ABA-310, 800 Independence Avenues, SW., Washington, DC 20591.

/(ZVZWL—

Joel C. Taub
Acting Chief Financial Officer
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U.S. Department of Transportation
FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION
COMBINING STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 1996
(Dollars in Thousands)

AIRPORT AND TRUST FUND TRUST FUND TRUST FUND
AIRWAY TRUST GRANTS-IN-AID FACILITIES & RESEARCH,
FUND (CORPUS) TO AIRPORTS EQUIPMENT ENGR & DEVEL
ssets
intity Assets:
Intragovernmental Assets:
Fund Balance With Treasury (Note 2} $ 1 S 106,711 $ 58,587 $ 12,700
Investments (Note 4) 4,013,087 282,170 3,162,775 223,932
Accounts Receivable, Net (Note 5) 128,230 847
Interest Receivable 120,985
Advance and Prepayments 21,010 7,189
Other Intragovernmental (Note 6) 7,021 2
Governmental Assets: '
Accounts Receivable, Net (Note 5) : 2 13,217 317

Credit Program Receivables and Related
Foreclosed Property, Net (Note 7)
Advances and Prepayments 73 (1)
Other Governmental
Cash and Other Monetary Assets (Note 3)
Inventory, Net

Operating Materials and Supplies, Net (Note 8) 108,848

Property and Equipment, Net (Note 9) 8,602,585

lotal Entity Assets $ 4,134,083 $ 388,883 § 12,102,348 $ 244,986

otal Assets $ 4,134,083 S 388,883 $ 12,102,348 § 244,986
UNAUDITED
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U.S. Department of Transportation
FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION
COMBINING STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 1996
{Dollars in Thousands)

AVIATION AIRCRAFT OPERATIONS OTHER
INSURANCE PURCHASE FUNDS Consolidated
REVOLVING LOAN GUAR Total
304 S 2 3 652,715 § 3,706 $ 834,726
62,273 7,744,241
30,374 8,556 168,007
120,995
35,077 63,276
4,569 (7) 11,585
7,438 3,583 24,557
548 548
2,533 2,605
26 26
323,145 431,993
196,491 8,799,076
62,577 §$ 2 S 1,252,368 § 16,383 $ 18,201,630
62,577 $ 2 S 1,252,368 § 16,383 $ 18,201,630
UNAUDITED
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U.S. Department of Transportation
FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION
COMBINING STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 1996
{Dollars in Thousands)

AIRPORT AND TRUST FUND TRUST FUND TRUST FUND
AIRWAY TRUST GRANTS-IN-AID FACILITIES & RESEARCH,
FUND (CORPUS) TO AIRPORTS EQUIPMENT ENGR & DEVEL
abilities
iabilities Covered by
Budgetary Resources:
Intragovernmental Liabilities: R
Accounts Payable $ $ $ 60,718 $ 2,369
Other Intragovernmental
Liabilities (Note 11) 24,675 2,828
Governmental Liabilities:
Accounts Payable . 19,970 309,451 8,331
Other Governmental .
Liabilities (Note 11) 6,859 4,355
“otal Liabilities Covered by
Budgetary Resources $ $ 19,970 $ 401,703 § 17,883

iabilities not Covered by
Budgetary Resources:
Intragovernmental Liabilities:
Debt (Note 10) $ $ $ $
Other Intragovernmental -
Liabilities (Note 11)
Governmental Liabilities:
Lease Liabilities (Note 12} 110,989
Pensions and Other Actuarial
Liabilities (Note 13)
Other Governmental

Liabilities (Note 11) 1,710,070 404,013
"otal Liabilities not Covered by
Budgetary Resources $ $ 1,710,070 § 515,002 $
otal Liabilities $ $ 1,730,041 $ 916,705 § 17,883
UNAUDITED
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U.S. Department of Transportation
FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION
COMBINING STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 1996
{Dollars in Thousands)

AVIATION AIRCRAFT OPERATIONS OTHER
INSURANCE PURCHASE FUNDS Consolidated
REVOLVING LOAN GUAR Total
\.
54 § $ 83,964 $§ 181 $ 147,286
8,599 5,214 41,316
S 95,232 6,631 439,620
12 147,642 5,885 164,753
71 S $ 335,438 $ 17,912 $ 782,977
$ 21 8 $ $ 21
184,238 184,238
110,988
821,258 821,258
16 671,532 2,785,631
16 § 21§ 1,677,028 $§ $ 3,902,137
87 § 21 §$ 2,012,466 $ 17,912 § 4,695,115
UNAUDITED
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U.S. Department of Transportation
FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION
COMBINING STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 1996
{Dollars in Thousands)

AIRPORT AND TRUST FUND TRUST FUND TRUST FUND
AIRWAY TRUST GRANTS-IN-AID FACILITIES & RESERRCH,
FUND (CORPUS) TO AIRPORTS EQUIPMENT ENGR & DEVEL
let Position
Balances:
Unexpended Appropriations (Note 14) $ S 483,865 S 1,319,240 § 93,703
Invested Capital (Note 14) 2,754 10,549,377 127,093
Cumulative Results of Operations (Note 14) 4,134,083 (180,199) 6,306
Other (Note 14) (117, 706) 12,226
Future Funding Requirements (Note 14) (1,710,070) (515,002)
Total Net Position (vote 14) $ 4,134,083 $ (1,341,158) $ 11,185,642 $ 227,103
otal Liabilities and ,
Net Position $ 4,134,083 § 388,883 $ 12,102,348 § 244,986

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements

UNAUDITED
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U.S. Department of Transportation
FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION
COMBINING STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 1996
{Dollars in Thousands)

AVIATION AIRCRAFT OPERATIONS OTHER
INSURANCE PURCHASE FUNDS Consolidated
REVOLVING LOAN GUAR Total

$ 5 103,073 $ (672) $ 1,999,209

5 497,164 . (888) 11,175,505

62,506 (3) 316,693 " 30 4,339,416
(105,480)

(16) (21) (1,677,028) (3,902,137)
62,490 § (19) $ (760,098) $ (1,530) $ 13,506,513
62,577 § 2 $ 1,252,368 $ 16,383 $ 18,201,630

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements

UNAUDITED
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U.S. Department of Transportation
FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION
COMBINING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 1996
{Dollars in Thousands)

AIRPORT AND TRUST FUND TRUST FUND TRUST FUND
AIRWAY TRUST GRANTS-IN-AID FACILITIES & RESEARCH,
FUND (CORPUS) TO AIRPORTS EQUIPMENT ENGR & DEVEL
evenues and
Financing Sources
ppropriated Capital Used $ $ 1,664,931 $ 1,776,566 § 233,561
evenues from Sales of Goods and Services: N
To the Public 10,287 288
Intragovernmental 103,925 1,498
iterest and Penalties, Non-Federal
iterest, Federal 694,617
axes (Note 15) 2,404,970
ither Revenues and Financing Sources (Note 16) ) 275,613

ess: Taxes and Receipts Transferred
to the Treasury or Other Agencies (Note 16) (6,627,152)

[otal Revenues and

Financing Sources $ (3,527,564) $ 1,664,931 $ 2,166,393 $ 235,347
xpenses
rogram or Operating Expenses (Note 17} $ $ 1,664,931 $ 2,508,902 § 233,495
~ost of Goods Sold
Intragovernmental 111,662 1,770
depreciation and Amortization 7,908
3ad Debts and Writeoffs 117 (5)
nterest
Federal Financing Bank/Treasury
Borrowing
Other 7,212 71
Jther Expenses (Note 18) 262,522
lotal Expenses $ $ 1,664,931 $ 2,898,323 $ 235,331

ixcess (Shortage) of Revenues and
Financing Sources Over Total Expenses

Before Extraordinary ltems (3,527,564) (731,930) 17
lus {(Minus) Extraordinary
Items (Note 19) (222,584)

=xcess (Shortage) of Revenues
and Financing Sources
Over Total Expenses $ (3,527,564) $ $ (954,514) $ 17

UNAUDITED
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U.S. Department of Transportation
FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION
COMBINING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 1996
{Dollars in Thousands)

AVIATION AIRCRAFT OPERATIONS OTHER
INSURANCE PURCHASE FUNDS Consolidated
REVOLVING LOAN GUAR Total
$ $ 4,806,803 $ : 50 $ 8,481,911
8,716 ' 19,291
45,636 151,059
4,852 4,852
694,617
2,404,970
27 5,023 280,663
(6,627,152)
4,879 S $ 4,866,179 S 50 $§ 5,410,215
337 $ $ 4,739,877 & 50 & 9,147,592
24,074 137,506
6,337 14,245
1,917 2,029
(1) (1)
3 280 7,566
555,085 817,607
337 § 2 ¢$ 5,327,569 $ 50 $ 10,126,543
4,542 (2) (461,392) (4,716,329)
(222,584)
4,542 $§ (2) $ (461,392) $ $ (4,938,913)
UNAUDITED

11-9



U.S. Department of Transportation
FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION
COMBINING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 1996

(Dollars in Thousands)

AIRPORT AND TRUST FUND TRUST FUND TRUST FUND
AIRWAY TRUST GRANTS-IN-AID FACILITIES & RESEARCH,
FUND (CORPUS) TO AIRPORTS EQUIPMENT ENGR & DEVEL
hange In
Net Position
\et Position, Beginning Balance, as .
Previously Stated $ 6,951,413 § 53%,838 $ 12,392,183 S 276,982
Adjustments (Note 18) 710,234 ’ (71,925)
Jet Position, Beginning Balance, as
Restated 7,661,647 533,838 12,320,258 276,982
:xcess (Shortage) of Revenues and
Financing Sources Over Total Expenses (3,527,564) (954,514) 17
lus (Minus) Non Operating Changes (Note 20) . (1,874,996) (180,102) (49,896)
\let Position, Ending Balance $ 4,134,083 $ (1,341,158) $ 11,185,642 $ 227,103

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements

UNAUDITED
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U.S. Department of Transportation
FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION
COMBINING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 1996
(Dollars in Thousands)

AVIATION AIRCRAFT OPERATIONS OTHER
INSURANCE PURCHASE FUNDS Consolidated
REVOLVING LOAN GUAR Total

57,948 $ {(17) $ (1,460,517) $ (1,608) $§ 18,750,222
(21, 141) ’ 617,168

57,948 (17) (1,481,658) (1,608) 19,367,390
4,542 (2) (461,392) (4,938,913)
1,182,952 77 (921, 965)

62,450 § (19) $ (760,098) $ (1,530) $ 13,506,513

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements

UNAUDITED
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FY 1996 FAA FINANCIAL STATEMENT

Note 1. Significant Accounting Policies:

The consolidated financial statement is presented in
accordance with the accounting principles and reporting
standards contained in Department of Transportation
(DOT) and Federal Government financial policies,
procedures, and reporting requirements, including those
of the principal fiscal agencies: the Department of
Treasury (Treasury); the General Accounting Office; and
the Office of Management and Budget (OMB). Those
reporting standards include OMB’s Statements of Federal
Financial Accounting Standards (SFFAS) Nos. 1 through
3. In addition, Federal Aviation Administration (FAA)
Order No. 2700.31, Uniform Accounting Systems
Operations Manual, and related documentation contain
FAA-specific accounting policy.

A. Basis of Presentation

The financial statement has been prepared to report
the financial position and results of operations of the
FAA, as required by 31 U.S.C. 3515, as added by the
Chief Financial Officers Act of 1990 and as amended
by the Federal Financial Management Act of 1994,
which is title IV of the Government Management
Reform Act of 1994. The statement has been
prepared from the books and records of FAA in
accordance with the requirements for form and
content of entity financial statements, as specified by
OMB Bulletin 94-01, and in accordance with FAA’s
accounting policies summarized in this note.
Consequently, this statement is different from the
financial management reports, also prepared by FAA
pursuant to OMB directives, that are used to monitor
and control FAA’s use of budgetary resources.

B. Reporting Entity

The Treasury designates the reporting entities that
Federal agencies are to use in submitting financial
statements to the Treasury. The OMB budget
account listing also specifies reporting entities. In
preparing this financial statement, FAA followed the
Treasury designations (listed below) and not the
OMB designations. The combining statement
presents the financial condition and activities of FAA
as a whole, as well as the component data for each of
the four entities. This statement also reflects relevant
transfers between funds and fund entities, where
appropriate.

Entity Title
1. Trust Fund Airport and Airway Trust Fund

Cash and Investments
Grants-in-Aid
Facilities and Equipment
Research and Development
Programs Administered by Other
Agencies

2. Revolving Aviation Insurance Program

Fund
3. Loan Aircraft Purchase Loan
Guarantee Guarantee Program
Borrowing Authority for

Program Expenses
Appropriation to Liquidate

Borrowed Funds and

Accrued Interest

4. All Others Operations
(Unsegmented) Facility and Equipment
Development
General Fund Miscellaneous
Receipts

Budget Clearing Accounts

Suspense Accounts

Items Not Classified by
Financing Source

The Airport and Airway Trust Fund (Trust Fund)
financed approximately 75 percent of the fiscal year
(FY) 1996 total budget. A brief description of each
appropriation is presented in chapter 3,
FY 1996 Financial Highlights. The only
appropriations receiving General Fund financing are
the Operations appropriation and, if enacted, the
appropriation to liquidate debts to the Treasury
incurred for the Aircraft Purchase Loan Guarantee
Program. (No such liquidating appropriation was
enacted in FY 1996.) Approximately 50 percent of
the FY 1996 funding of the Operations appropriation
was financed by the General Fund, and the remainder
was funded by the Trust Fund. Infusing funds from
the Trust Fund to the Operations appropriation is
accomplished by periodic transfers. Once a transfer
is made, the corresponding portion of the Operations
account derived from the Trust Fund is accounted for
under the General Fund Operations appropriation
symbol, thus losing the identity of the source.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
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FY 1996 FAA FINANCIAL STATEMENT

E.

Section 3515 of title 31, U.S. Code, requires
submitting to the OMB Director an audited financial
statement covering all agency activities.  This
statement shows each activity’s component data.
Further details within an entity are provided as notes
where appropriate.

Budgets and Budgetary Accounting

Congress annually enacts appropriations to permit
FAA to incur obligations for specified purposes. For
FY 1996, FAA was accountable for Trust Fund
appropriations, General Fund appropriations, a
Revolving Fund, and borrowing authority. FAA
recognizes budgetary resources as assets when cash
(funds held by Treasury) is made available through
Treasury General Fund warrants and Trust Fund
transfers. See paragraph B above. '

Basis of Accounting

Transactions are recorded on an accrual accounting
basis and a budgetary basis. Under the accrual
method, revenues are recognized when earned, and
expenses are recognized when a liability is incurred,
without regard to receipt or payment of cash. Trust
Fund revenues derived from excise taxes are treated
differently. They are recorded on the basis of cash
transferred from the Treasury General Fund to the
Trust Fund. Transactions are also classified by fund
account. This is accomplished by assigning to each
transaction a unique attribute (Treasury symbol)
identifying the corresponding appropriation and its
period of availability. Note 1.E, Revenues and Other
Financing Sources, contains further information.

Budgetary accounting facilitates complying with legal
controls on the use of Federal funds.

Revenues and Other Financing Sources

Congress enacts annual, multi-year, and no-year
appropriations to be used, within statutory limits, for
operating and capital expenditures.  Additional
amounts are obtained from service fees (e.g., registry
fees) and through reimbursements for services
performed for other domestic and foreign
governmental entities.

The Trust Fund is sustained by excise taxes collected
by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) from airway
system users. The IRS records excise tax revenues

deposited in the General Fund on a cash basis;
Treasury transfers an equivalent amount from the
General Fund to the Trust Fund. The Trust Fund also
earns interest from investments in Treasury securities.
Interest income is recognized as revenue on the
accrual basis.

Appropriations are recognized as a financing source
when expended. Revenues from service fees and
reimbursements are recognized concurrently with the
recognition of accrued expenditures for performing
the services.

\

F. Fund Balances with Treasury and Cash

FAA does not maintain cash in commercial bank
accounts. Treasury processes cash receipts and
disbursements. Funds at the Treasury are available to
pay agency liabilities. FAA maintains petty cash
(imprest funds) outside the Treasury to facilitate
small purchases.

FAA does not maintain any foreign currency
balances. Foreign currency payments are made either
by the Treasury or the Department of State, and are
reported by FAA in the U.S. dollar equivalent.

Accounts and Loans Receivable

FAA’s financial statement includes the activities and
balances of relevant Treasury General Fund
Miscellaneous Receipt accounts. This is done to
establish an audit trail. It also maintains
accountability for defaulted loans under the Aircraft
Purchase Loan Guarantee Program. Upon default,
FAA established accounts receivable in the General
Fund Miscellaneous Receipts account to reflect the
amount due from the borrower for principal and
interest. FAA also established an intragovernmental
liability to offset the accounts receivable which
represents an asset of the Treasury, not FAA.

Operating Materials and Supplies

Operating materials and supplies consist primarily of
unissued materials and supplies that will be consumed
in normal operations. The value of operating
materials and supplies on hand at yearend is stated
using standard costs. Standard costs are adjusted
quarterly to reflect current prices and are applied to
materials and supplies on hand. The resulting write-
up or write-down is recognized as a materials and

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
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FY 1996 FAA FINANCIAL STATEMENT

supplies valuation gain or loss. Other classifications
of materials and supplies are valued on the basis of
actual prices paid.

SFFAS No. 3, Accounting for Inventory and Related
Property, allows the recording of valuation gains and
losses when items are determined to be excess,
obsolete, or unserviceable. SFFAS No. 3 does not
address gains and losses for valuation variances due
to using standard cost. FAA will begin valuing
materials and supplies using a moving weighted
average not later than FY 1998. This will eliminate
the variances caused by the use of standard cost.
Adjustments for the proper valuation of reparable,
excess, obsolete, and unserviceable items are made to
the appropriate allowance accounts at fiscal yearend.

Operating materials and supplies are reclassified as
expenses or work in progress when consumed or
issued. See Note 8, Operating Materials and
Supplies, Net, for additional information.

Investment in U.S. Government Securities

Unexpended funds in the Trust Fund and Aviation
Insurance Revolving Fund are invested in U.S.
Government securities. A portion of the Trust Fund
investments is liquidated semi-monthly in amounts
needed to provide cash for FAA appropriation
accounts. The Revolving Fund investments are
usually held to maturity. Investments, redemptions,
and reinvestments are controlled and processed by the
Treasury. See Note 4, Investments, for additional
information.

J. Property and Equipment

Depreciation and amortization of fixed assets were
not recognized before FY 1996. A provision of
SFFAS No. 6, Accounting for Property, Plant, and
Equipment, which becomes effective in FY 1998,
requires the depreciation of fixed assets classified as
general property, plant, and equipment. Early
implementation of the standard is encouraged, and
individual provisions of the standard may be
implemented before other provisions. Beginning in
FY 1996, the depreciation of aircraft and the
amortization of depreciable assets acquired under
capital leases are recognized.

Depreciation and amortization are based on the
straight-line method, generally over an asset’s

estimated service life. Aircraft are depreciated to a
25 percent salvage value over a service life of
20 years. Buildings acquired under capital leases are
amortized over the lease term. If the lease agreement
contains a bargain purchase option or otherwise
provides for transferring title of the asset to FAA, the
building is depreciated over a 30-year service life.

Expenditures for all other categories of capital assets
are recognized as expenses (loss) upon disposal of the
asset.  Additional categories of assets will be
depreciated in FY 1997, leading to full compliance
with the depreciation provision of SFFAS No. 6 in
FY 1998.

Construction in progress is valued at direct (actual)
costs, plus applied overhead and other indirect costs
as accumulated by the regional project materiel
system. The system accumulates costs by the project
number assigned to each facility being constructed.

The General Services Administration (GSA) receives
payment for real property that is under its control and
is used by FAA. Payments are made from an
appropriation to the Office of the Secretary of
Transportation (OST), part of which (corresponding
to FAA costs) is derived from the Trust Fund. See
Note 17, Program Expenses, for further discussion of
GSA rental payments.

Personal property is capitalized when the acquisition
cost of one unit exceeds $5,000. Equipment with a
unit acquisition cost of less than $5,000 is expensed.
Software is capitalized when the acquisition cost of
one unit exceeds $25,000. Capitalization thresholds
differ from the thresholds for classifying property as
accountable or sensitive.

K. Prepaid and Deferred Charges

Advance payments are generally prohibited by law;
there are some exceptions, such as subscriptions.
When permitted, payments made in advance of the
receipt of goods and services are recorded as prepaid
charges at the time of prepayment and recognized as
expenses when the related goods and services are
received.

L. Liabilities

A liability represents the amount to be paid by FAA
as the result of a transaction or event that has already

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
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occurred. However, no liability can be liquidated by
FAA absent an appropriation. Liabilities for which
an appropriation has not yet been enacted are
therefore classified as unfunded liabilities, and there
is no certainty that such appropriation will be
enacted.

Borrowing Payable to the Treasury

Borrowing involves loans from the Treasury to fund
expenses in the Aircraft Purchase Loan Guarantee
Program. Treasury renews the debt obligation until
FAA receives an appropriation to liquidate the
principal and interest. No such appropriation was
enacted for FY 1996.

Interest Payable to the Treasury

FAA owes interest to the Treasury based on its debt
to the Treasury as a result of borrowing for the
Aircraft Purchase Loan Guarantee Program.

Contingencies

FAA recognizes losses for contingent liabilities when
such losses are probable and reasonably estimable.
For example, FAA recognizes material contingent
liabilities in the form of claims that have been
brought to the attention of the Office of Chief
Counsel (OCC) and: (1) have been asserted, or, if not
yet asserted, in the opinion of the OCC are more
likely to be asserted than not; (2) in the opinion of the
OCC are more likely to be paid than not; and (3) for
which the OCC can estimate the probable payment.

P. Annual, Sick, and Other Leave

Annual leave is accrued as it is earned, and the
accrual is reduced as leave is taken. At each bi-
weekly pay period, the balance in the accrued annual
leave account is adjusted to reflect the latest pay rates
and unused hours of leave. Funding will be obtained
from future financing sources to the extent that
current or prior year appropriations are not available
to fund annual leave earned but not taken. Sick leave
and other types of nonvested leave are expensed
when taken. See Note 11, Other Liabilities, for
further discussion of other liabilities for compensated
absences.

Q.

Retirement Plan

FAA employees who participate in the Civil Service
Retirement System (CSRS) receive from FAA a
matching contribution to their annuity equal to
7 percent of pay. FAA does not report CSRS assets,
accumulated plan benefits, or unfunded liabilities, if
any, applicable to employees.  Reporting such
amounts is the responsibility of the administering
agency, the Office of Personnel Management (OPM),
not of the employing agency.

On January 1, 1987, the Federal Employees
Retirement System (FERS) went into effect pursuant
to Public Law 99-335. Most employees hired after
December 31, 1983, are automatically covered by
FERS and Social Security. Employees hired prior to
January 1, 1984, could elect either to join FERS and
Social Security or to remain in CSRS. FERS offers a
savings plan to which FAA automatically contributes
1 percent of pay and matches any employee
contribution up to an additional 4 percent of pay. For
most employees hired since December 31, 1983, FAA
also contributes the employer’s matching share for
Social Security.

Comparative Data

Although comparative data for FY 1995 have not
been presented in the financial statement, some
comparative data are included in the following notes.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
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Note 2. Fund Balance with Treasury:

(Dollars in Thousands)
Unobligated Unobligated
Obligated & Available & Restricted Total
Trust Fund $ 2,462,145 3 (1,877,986) (1) $ (406,159) (1) $ 178,000
Revolving Fund (66,951) 67,255 - 304
Operations General Fund 602,244 (2) _ 2 (3 50,470 (4) 652,716
Other Funds 3.133 (5) 373 - 3,706
Total 3 3.000,571 b} {1,810,156) b (355.689) $ 834,726

The period of time during which FAA has authority to incur obligations is determined by the type of appropriation

(i.e., single-, multi-, or no-year). Obligated fund balances represent appropriations that are available to liquidate

(i.e., pay) obligations that existed as of September 30, 1996, having been properly incurred before obligating authority
expired. Unobligated and available fund balances represent amounts that are available for incurring new obligations

(i.e., obligational authority has not yet expired). Unobligated and restricted fund balances represent balances of
appropriations for which the period of availability for (voluntary) obligation has expired. These balances are only available
for upward adjustments of obligations incurred during the period for which the appropriation was available for obligation, or
for paying claims attributable to the appropriation.

(1) The amount withdrawn biweekly from the Trust Fund is based on cash outlays, not obligational authority, to minimize
interest costs. In addition, the Airport Improvement Program (AIP) has obligationat authority, but has not yet received a
liquidating cash appropriation.

(2) This amount includes $490.7 million from the FY 1996 appropriation, available as of September 30, 1996, to pay
obligations that had been incurred during FY 1996. The amount also includes $2,142 appropriated in prior years to liquidate
debts to Treasury for cash lent to FAA for the Aircraft Purchase Loan Guarantee Program. Additionally, the amount
includes $107.6 million of balances of single-year appropriations that remain available to pay obligations incurred prior to
FY 1996. The remaining $3.9 million represents the balance available to pay the obligations of a no-year appropriation.

(3) Represents the unobligated balance of a no-year appropriation.
(4) This amount includes $6.9 million from the FY 1996 appropriation, for which the availability for obligation expired on
September 30, 1996. The remaining $43.6 million represents single-year appropriations that expired prior to

FY 1996.

(5) Includes a $0.59 million transfer appropriation balance from GSA for the relocation costs involved in moving FAA
facilities to more economical facilities from under-utilized valuable property targeted for public sale.

Note 3. Cash, Foreign Currency, and Other Monetary Assets:

(Dollars in Thousands)
Imprest Fund Cash $ 26
Total Cash, Foreign Currency, and Other Monetary Assets b 26

FAA closed all but essential imprest funds and reduced the fund balances from $1.5 million in FY 1995 to $26,000 in
FY 1996. A further and final reduction to $16,000 will occur in FY 1997.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
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Note 4. Investments:

(Dollars in Thousands)
Required
Amorti-  Unamortized Market
zation (Premium) Market Investments Value
Cost Method Discount Value Net Disclosure
Intragovernmental
Securities:
Non-Marketable, Par Value .
Airport and Airway ’
Trust Fund (1) $ 7,681,968 3 - 8 - § 7,681,968 $ -
Non-Marketable,
Market Based .
Aviation Insurance Straight
Revolving Fund (2) 64,460  Line (2.187) - 62.273 -
Total $ 7.746.428 3 (2.187) 3 - § 7744241 3§ -

(1) Nonmarketable par value Treasury securities are special series debt securities that the Treasury issues to Federal entities
at face value (par value). The securities are redeemed at face value on demand; thus, investing entities recover the full
amount invested, plus interest. Trust Fund investments are made by the Fund’s trustee, the Secretary of the Treasury.

A total of $7.68 billion was invested in U.S. Treasury Certificates of Indebtedness as of September 30, 1996, at a rate of 6.63
percent, maturing June 30, 1997. This represents a $3.46 billion decrease in the amount invested as of September 30, 1995.
Although an annual decrease has been the norm in recent years, the lapse of excise taxes in FY 1996 caused a significant
change. See chapter 3 of the Annual Report for additional information on the expired taxes. A total of $3.67 billion of the
Trust Fund balance corresponds to Trust Fund appropriations of cash to liquidate pending obligations.

(2) Market-based Treasury securities are debt securities that the Treasury issues to Federal entities without statutorily
determined interest rates. Although the securities are not marketable, their terms (prices and interest rates) mirror the terms
of marketable Treasury securities. FAA amortizes premiums and discounts on market-based Treasury securities over the life
of the security using the interest method, in accordance with SFFAS No. 1. The following amounts are invested in market-
based Treasury securities:

(Dollars in Thousands)
Effective
Maturity Interest
Date Rate Amount

1 12/12/96 5.04% $ 12,335
2 4/03/97 5.16% 21,265
3 6/26/97 5.49% 14,395
4 9/18/97 5.52% 16.465

$ 64.460
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Note 5. Accounts Receivable :

(Dollars in Thousan.ds)

Other Gross Allowance for Net
Accounts Amount Uncollectable Amount
Receivable Due Amounts Due
Intragovernmental:
Airport and Airway Trust Fund $ 129,077 $ 129,077 $ - $ 129,077 (1)
Appropriated Funds 30,374 30,374 - 30,374
Other Funds 8,556 8.556 - 8,556
Total $ 168.007 $ 168,007 $ - $ 168,007
Governmental:
Airport and Airway Trust Fund $ 13,718 $ 13,718 $ (182) $ 13,536
Appropriated Funds 9,480 9,480 (2,042) 7,438
Other Funds 5,693 5,693 (2) (2.110) 3,583
Total $ 28.891 $ 28.891 $ (4.334) $ 24,557

Delinquency notices are sent to debtors when billings remain uncollected for 30 days. Followup notices are sent if the debtor
does not respond. Additional actions, such as salary or retirement offset (when the debtor is a current or former Federal
employee), as well as tax refund offset, consumer reporting, and referral to collection agencies may be taken, depending on
the circumstances of each case. An allowance for uncollectible accounts receivable is established when, based upon a
monthly review of outstanding accounts and the failure of all collection efforts, management determines that collection is
unlikely to occur.

(1) In fiscal years 1994 and 1993, appropriated amounts not yet transferred from the Treasury to FAA appropriation
accounts were reported as intragovernmental accounts receivable. As of September 30, 1996, $3.67 billion in funds
appropriated to FAA had not yet been transferred from the Trust Fund. This amount is more properly reported in FY 1996 as
Trust Fund investments. See Note 4, Investments.

(2) A total amount of $3.94 million represents an accounts receivable balance of Treasury General Fund Miscellaneous
Receipt accounts. FAA established a $3.94 million intragovernmental liability to offset the accounts receivable balance
which represents an asset of the Treasury, not FAA. See Note 11. Other Liabilities.
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Note 6. Other Assets:}

(Dollars in Thousands)

Other Entity Assets - Intragovernmental

Undistributed Foreign Costs $ 403
Undistributed Costs - Treasury Clearing 4,901
Other Assets - Undistributed 6.281

Total v § 11,585

Note 7. Loans and Loan Guarantees, Non-Federal Borrowers:

(Dollars in Thousands)

Defaults on Pre-1992 Guaranteed Loans:

Aircraft Purchase Defaulted Interest Allowance for  Foreclosed Defaulted
Loan Guarantee Guaranteed Receivable Loan Losses Property Guaranteed
Program Loans Loans
Receivable, Receivable,
Gross Net
3 644 3§ 241 3§ (337) 3 - b 548

FAA has no direct loan programs, but FAA administered the Aircraft Purchase Loan Guarantee Program. Authorization for
issuing new loan guarantees expired before 1992. The only remaining program function is to maximize recoveries from
defaulted loans. While this authority was in effect, FAA could guarantee up to 90 percent of the principal and 100 percent of
the interest of an aircraft purchase loan. Upon default, FAA would establish accounts receivable in the General Fund
Miscellaneous Receipts account to reflect the amount due from the borrower for principal and interest. This amount was
considered to be a direct loan. FAA would also establish an intragovernmental liability to offset the accounts receivable that
represented assets of the Treasury, not FAA. See Note 5, Accounts Receivable, footnote 2, and Note 11, Other Liabilities,
footnote 1.

Accounts receivable from debtors on account of defaulted guaranteed loans are reported net of an allowance for estimated
uncollectible amounts. The Federal Credit Reform Act was enacted after the authority to issue new guarantees expired, and
therefore does not apply to FAA’s loan guarantees.

Administrative expenses to maintain residual values in this program are minimal. FAA has no full-time employees
administering the program.
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Note 8. Operating Materials and Supplies, Net:

(Dollars in Thousands)
Value Allowance Net Value Valuation
Method
Items Held For Use:

General Operations $ 409,317 § (113,737) § 295,580 Standard Cost
Aircraft Parts 35,784 (8,219) 27,565 Standard Cost
Facility Components 86,214 - 86,214 Standard Cost
Other Unclassified 22,634 - 22,634

Total 3 553,949 § (121956) §$ 431993

General operating materials and supplies, including aircraft spare parts, are reported as operational assets. Applying standard
costs results in gains and losses which are recognized as current period expenses. This may cause operating materials and
supplies, as well as operating expenses to be under or overstated. FAA will, not later than FY 1998, use the moving
weighted average method to value operating materials and supplies. This will eliminate valuation gains and losses
attributable to using standard costs. See Note 16, Other Revenues and Financing Sources, and Note 18, Other Expenses.

FAA currently expenses items as issued. The DOT Office of Inspector (OIG) determined during the FY 1996 audit that
expensing items as issued may result in understating the value of operating materials and supplies, because the items shipped
from the William J. Hughes Technical Center (WJHTC) and the Mike Monroney Aeronautical Center (MMAC) to regional
facilities may not have been consumed by fiscal yearend. During FY 1997, FAA will establish a baseline of such items by
conducting a nationwide inventory of regional items not yet consumed. Subsequently, at each fiscal yearend, regional stock
items will be counted and their value will be included in the operating materials and supplies balance. Operating expense
will be adjusted accordingly. Items shipped to regional facilities may also include components of work in process or
completed property and equipment. During FY 1997, FAA will review the operating materials and supplies transfers and
shipments to ensure proper classification as operating expense, work in process, or property and equipment. See Note 9,
Property and Equipment, Net, and Note 17, Program Expenses.

The allowance method is used to account for operating materials and supplies held for repair, reducing the net carrying value
of such items to 35 percent of their original cost. An allowance for reparable items of $113.7 million for general operations
and $8.2 million for aircraft parts was established in FY 1996. Items are considered for repair if the maximum repair cost
does not exceed 65 percent of the original cost.

A $16.5 million loss on excess operating materials and supplies was recognized in FY 1996. These items were written down
in value from an original cost of $62.6 million to a net realizable value of $46.1 million. The write-down is generally based
on condition levels and on the ratio of repair cost to original cost. Scrap and salvage items are written down to zero value
and may be sold for nominal amounts. FAA transfers excess items for disposal into the governmentwide automated disposal
system. Disposal proceeds may go to the General Fund or to an FAA appropriation, depending on the nature of the item and
the disposal method. FAA may not donate items.

The purchases-in-transit account generally represents property and equipment in transit from suppliers to FAA. Purchases in
transit were improperly classified as operating materials and supplies in prior fiscal years. They are correctly classified in
FY 1996 as property and equipment. See Note 9, Property and Equipment, Net.
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Note 9. Property and Equipment, Net:

(Dollars in Thousands)
Net Net
Deprec.  Service Acquis. Accum. Book Value Book Value

Classes of Fixed Assets Method  Life (yrs) Value Deprec. FY 1996 FY 1995
Land None None $ 63,020 None $ 63,020 $ 57,340
Structures, Facilities and * * 1,915,752  § - 1,915,752 1,680,648

Lease Improvements

Aircraft SL 20 243,452 (51,038) 192,414 (1) 211,462
Aircraft Engines * * 3,961 ° - 3,961 5,576
ADP Software * * 2,760 - 2,760 (2) 224,600
Equipment * * 3,125,441 - 3,125,441 (3) 2,723,522
Assets Under Capital Lease SL 25-30 179,848 (75,899) 103,949 (1) 130,599
Construction in Progress None None 3,303,235 - 3,303,235 (4) 2,780,856
Equip. Furnished to Others * * 69,874 - 69,874 69,874
Property Not in Use * * 18,610 - 18,610 (5) 68,645
Equip. Loaned to Agency * * 60 - 60 4,163

Total $8926,013 $(126.937) $ 8,799.076 $ 7957285

(1) FAA has begun depreciating aircraft and amortizing buildings acquired under capital leases. Additional categories of
assets will be depreciated or amortized in FY 1997 to ensure full compliance with the depreciation provision of SFFAS
No. 6, which becomes effective in FY 1998.

(2) Asaresult of the FY 1993 financial statement audit, the DOT OIG disclosed that approximately $772 million in
Advanced Automation System (AAS) software development costs were not properly capitalized because FAA management
had viewed software development as basic research and development. The portion of AAS software retained by the agency
was capitalized in FY 1995 at $224.6 million. After further analysis during FY 1996, it was determined that much of the
software retained by FAA was not fully operational. Consequently, the software account has been adjusted to include only
the value of the operational portion ($2.3 million). The $222.3 million balance was transferred to the work-in-process
account under the property and equipment category of construction in progress. The remaining software is scheduled to be
completed in December 1998.

(3) All purchases in transit from suppliers to FAA are classified as equipment, even though some of these purchases may be
other types of items. Before FY 1996, all purchases in transit were improperly classified as operating materials and supplies.
See Note 8, Operating Materials and Supplies, Net. Therefore, before FY 1996 operating materials and supplies were
overstated and equipment was understated.

The final FY 1995 purchases-in-transit account balance of $897 million erroneously included $561 million for progress
payments to contractors and for prior period operating expenses. The latter amount was removed from that balance in

FY 1996, leaving $336 million. Of that remaining $336 million, $113 million was found to have been correctly classified as
equipment, and therefore allowed to remain in the purchases-in-transit account. The remaining balance of $223 million
could not be reconciled and was written off as an extraordinary item. See Note 19, Extraordinary Items/Prior Period
Adjustments.

(4) Construction in progress represents incomplete work on all classes of fixed assets identified in this table. The DOT OIG
determined during the FY 1995 audit that, when an asset has been substantially completed for its intended use, the asset’s
cost should be transferred from the construction-in-progress account to the proper fixed asset account.

The construction-in-progress account contains costs that should have been charged to current and prior period operating
expenses. See Note 8, Operating Materials and Supplies, Net, and Note 17, Program Expenses. FAA is correcting these
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deficiencies in FY 1997. Further, the construction-in-progress balance may have been understated if items shipped from the
WIHTC and the MMAC were improperly classified as operating expenses. This possibility is being reviewed in FY 1997.

(5) FAA recognized a $19.4 million loss on excess property in FY 1996, by writing down the value of property not in use
from an original cost of $43.6 million to a net realizable value of $24.2 million. The write-down is generally based on
condition levels and on the ratio of repair cost to original cost. Scrap and salvage items are written down to zero value. FAA
transfers excess property for disposal into the governmentwide automated disposal system. Disposal proceeds may go to the
General Fund or to an FAA appropriation, depending on the nature of the item and the disposal method. FAA may not
donate items.

Note 10. Debt:

\

(Dollars in Thousands)

Beginning Net Ending
Balance Borrowing Balance
Other Debt:
Aircraft Purchase Loan
Guarantee Program
Debt to the Treasury 3 21 % -3 21
Total Debt $ 21 § -3 21
Note 11. Other Liabilities:
(Dollars in Thousands)
A. Other Liabilities Covered by Budgetary Resources
1. Intragovernmentai: Noncurrent Current Liability Total
Liability
Advances from Others $ 20,018 $ 20,778 $ 40,796 (1)
Employee Savings Bond Deductions 508 508
Proceeds From Replacement of Property 12 - 12
Total b 20.030 $ 21286 $ 41316
2. Governmental:
Accrued Payroll & Benefits, Federal $ - $ 128,019 $ 128,019 (2)
Accrued Payroll & Benefits,

Employee Contributions 90 27,480 27,570
Advances from Others, Unclassified 94 3,226 3,320
Tax Deductions - State and Local 145 145
Liability for Unapplied Collections 145 5,554 5,699

Total $ 474 $ 164.279 $ 164,753
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(Dollars in Thousands})

B. Other Liabilities Not Covered by Budgetary Resources

1. Intragovernmental: Noncurrent Current Liability Total
Liability
Voluntary Separations $ - $ 9,566 3 9,566 (3)
Workers' Compensation Benefits _ 78,378 96,294 174,672 (4)
Total 3 78.378 § 105,860 § 184.238

2.  Governmental:

Environmental Remediation $ - $ 382,224 $ 382,224 (5)
Air Traffic Control at Closed DOD Bases - - 21,789 $ 21,789 (6)
Senior Executive Service Awards - 124 b 124 (7)
Accrued Unfunded Leave and Associated Benefits - 318,919 $ 318,919 (8)
Contingent Liabilities for Legal Claims - 320,505 $ 320,505 (9)
Contingent Liabilities for Return Rights Program - 32,000 $ 32,000 (10)
Airport Improvement Program Grant Agreements - 1,710,070 $ 1,710,070 (11)
Total 3 - § 2,785,631 $ 2,785,631

(1) An amount of $4.49 million represents an intragovernmental liability established to offset Treasury General Fund
Miscellaneous Receipt account balances ($3.94 million in accounts receivable, net, and $.55 million in loan guarantees, net).
See Note 5, Accounts Receivable, and Note 7, Loans and Loan Guarantees, Non-Federal Borrowers.

(2) Accrued liabilities for Federal payroll and benefits and related employee contributions represent the unpaid pay period
September 15 through September 30, 1996.

(3) During FY 1996, FAA offered voluntary separation incentive payments to employees, under section 3 of the Federal
Workforce Restructuring Act of 1994. Agencies offering such payments must make additional CSRS and FERS retirement
contributions to the OPM through FY 1998. The amount of the liability is $80 per employee estimated to be employed on
March 31, 1997, and per employee estimated to be employed on March 31, 1998. In addition, for FY 1997 agencies must
make additional CSRS and FERS retirement contributions to OPM, equal to 9 percent of the salary of employees receiving
incentive payments in FY 1997.

(4) The U.S. Department of Labor (DOL) administers the Federal Employees’ Compensation Fund. DOL provides FAA
with a quarterly statement of workers’ compensation benefits paid for its employees during each DOL accounting period
(July 1 through June 30), under 5 U.S.C. 8147. Funding for the amount charged to FAA is normally appropriated for the
fiscal year ending 2 years after the FAA accounting period in which the expense was incurred. Therefore, FAA’s FY 1996
accrued liability includes workers’ compensation benefits paid by DOL for the periods July 1, 1994 through June 30, 1995;
July 1, 1995 through June 30, 1996; and July 1, 1996 through September 30, 1996.

(5) Environmental remediation includes: environmental cleanup; the fuel storage tank program; environmental,
occupational safety and health compliance; and energy conservation. Such remediation will bring FAA into compliance with
Federal, state, and local environmental and occupational safety and health regulations. Environmental remediation costs are
currently being reviewed. This review may disclose that such costs have been understated by $310 million.
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(6) Providing ATC services where needed is FAA’s responsibility under 49 U.S.C. 44502(a)(1)}(B). FAA will continue
providing ATC functions for civilian users of the National Airspace System near certain DOD bases that are scheduled for
closure. FAA’s costs include those for equipment, real property, and personnel relocation.

(7) These accrued liabilities, amounting to $.124 million, are for FY 1996 performance awards to senior executive service
employees that will not be paid until the first quarter of FY 1997. N

(8) The estimated liability for accrued wages includes employee annual, home, and military leave and compensatory and
credit hours, plus the agency’s cost of employee benefits associated with such compensated absences for the period ended
September 30, 1996.

(9) InFY 1996, FAA recognized contingent liabilities of $320.5 million associated with claims that had been brought to the
attention of the OCC and that: (a) had been asserted, or, if not yet asserted, in the opinion of the OCC were more likely to be
asserted than not; (b) in the opinion of the OCC were more likely to be paid than not; and (c) for which the OCC could
estimate probable payment. Such claims represented a variety of administrative proceedings and legal actions against which
the OCC was then defending or then expected to defend. Prior to FY 1996, FAA disclosed such liabilities in notes to the
financial statement.

Of the contingent liabilities recognized, approximately $16.8 million could be payable from agency appropriations and
approximately $303.7 million could be payable from the permanent appropriation for judgments, awards, and compromise
settlements (Judgment Fund) administered by the Department of Justice. An OMB interpretation of SFFAS No. 3,
Accounting for Liabilities of the Federal Government, proposes requiring agencies to recognize an expense and a liability for
the full amount of an expected loss, whether payable from agency appropriations or from the Judgment Fund. The estimated
maximum exposure to the agency for claims payable from agency appropriations or from the Judgment Fund is
approximately $30.9 billion. See Note 22, Contingencies.

Recognized contingent liabilities may have been understated, because the stated amount does not include contract, personnel,
or other claims processed without OCC involvement. It is unknown whether such claims represent a material amount.
Action will be taken during FY 1997 to estimate the amount of claims being processed by organizations other than OCC.

(10) A contingent liability in the amount of $32 million for the Re-employment, Restoration, and Return Rights Program
was recognized in FY 1996. The program covers temporary assignments for 2 to 4 years. At the beginning of FY 1996,
approximately 827 employees who previously had accepted transfers to overseas or certain domestic locations were
contractually entitled to a future return move at Government expense. The typical cost per move is $50,000. During

FY 1996, approximately 187 cases of potential return right claims were closed, because employees elected not to exercise
their rights. At the end FY 1996, approximately 640 employees remained in the program. The liability may be overstated
because not every employee remaining in the program will exercise his or her return rights.

(11) Represents AIP grant agreements for which FAA has obligational authority, but has not yet received a liquidating cash
appropriation. This amount includes only the portion of available authority that has been obligated. It does not include the
unobligated balance. See Note 21, Other Disclosures.
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Note 12. Leases:
A. FAA as Lessee:
Capital Leases:
(Dollars in Thousands)

Summary of Assets Under Capital Lease:

Land and Buildings:
Aeronautical Center $ 130,599
Technical Center 49.250
$ 179,849 (1)
Accumulated Amortization _ (75.899) (2)
Net Assets Under Capital Lease $ 103,950
Future Payments Due: Land and
Fiscal Year Buildings
Year 1 (FY 1997) $ 16,757
Year 2 (FY 1998) 16,703
Year 3 (FY 1999) 16,160

Year 4 (FY 2000) 12,422

Year 5 (FY 2001) 11,218

After S Years (FY 2002 to Contract 98,386

End)

Less: Imputed Interest (60.523)
Total Capital Lease Liability 3 111,123
Funded s .
Unfunded $ 111,123

Less: Physical Assets Held for Others (134)

Total Unfunded Capital Lease Liability $ 110,989 (3)

Capital leases cover land and buildings at the MMAC in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, and at the WIHTC in Pomona,

New Jersey. (Operating leases presented in the following section cover other real property.) FAA leases the MMAC land
and buildings from the Oklahoma City Airport Trust at $12 million per year. FAA leases various real property, including the
WJIHTC technical building, from the Atlantic County Improvement Authority at $4.8 million per year.

FAA’s capital lease payments are funded annually. The following represents capital lease accounting treatment under
generally accepted accounting principles;

(1) Capital lease assets are recorded at the net present value of the minimum lease payments at the inception of the
lease.

(2) InFY 1996, FAA implemented the depreciation/amortization provision of SFFAS No. 6, which is applicable to
assets acquired under capital leases.
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(3) Amounts due within the current fiscal year corresponding to the principal portion of the lease payments are
recorded as current year obligations. The remaining principal payments are recorded as unfunded lease liabilities. The
imputed interest is funded and expensed annually. Interest amounts imputed to subsequent years ($60.5 million) are not
recorded as unfunded liabilities in the Departmental Accounting and Financial Information System (DAFIS).

Operating Leases:

(Dollars in Thousands)

Future Payments Due:

Land & Mach. &
Fiscal Year Buildings - Equipment Other Total

Year 1 (1997) $ 44295 h) 360 h) 430 $ 45,085
Year 2 (1998) 40,971 367 431 41,769
Year 3 (1999) 36,400 377 432 37,209
Year 4 (2000) , 31,814 242 436 32,492
Year 5 (2001) 27,758 250 281 28,289
After 5 Years (2002 to Contract End) 64,947 4.403 119 69.469 (1)

Total Future Operating Lease Payments $ 246,185 S 5.999 3 2.129 $ 254313

FAA leases property, aircraft, equipment, and telecommunications under operating leases. Such leases are funded annually
and expensed as recurring charges in DAFIS. Unfunded liabilities and future funding requirements for operating lease
payments due in future years are not recorded in DAFIS.

(1) The cumulative amount due on operating leases after 5 years does not include estimates for leases with annual renewal
options. Estimates of the lease termination dates are subjective, and any projection of future lease payments would be
arbitrary.

B. FAA as Lessor:
Operating Leases:
(Dollars in Thousands)

Future Projected Receipts:
Land & Mach. &

Fiscal Year Buildings  Equipment Other Total
Year 1 (1997) $ 3,933 $ 276§ - $ 4,209
Year 2 (1998) 4,123 276 - 4,399
Year 3 (1999) 4,320 275 - 4,595
Year 4 (2000) 4,530 275 - 4,805
Year 5 (2001) 4,759 275 - 5,034
After 5 Years (2002 to Contract End) 200,034 - - 200,034

Total Future Operating Lease Receivables $221699 § 1377 3§ - $ 223076

FAA leases Washington National Airport and Washington Dulles International Airport to the Metropolitan Washington
Airports Authority, the airports’ operator. The lease took effect in March 1987 at $3 million per year for a 50-year term.
Upon lease expiration, the airports and facilities, originally valued at $244 million, together with any improvements thereto,
will revert to the Federal Government. In addition, FAA leases equipment to foreign governments and leases parcels of
Government-owned land, generally for agriculture. The original value of these assets is approximately $2.8 million.
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Note 13. Pensions and Other Actuarial Liabilities:

(Dollars in Thousands)
. Actuarial
Actuarial Liability Not
Present Value Assumed Assets Covered by
of Projected Interest Available to Budgetary
Plan Benefits Rate (%) *  Pay Benefits Resources
Workers' Compensation 3 821,258 $ - $_ 821258
Benefits
Total S 821258 $ - 3 821258

OMB has directed that Federal agencies establish an unfunded actuarial liability under the Federal Employees Compensation
Act for workers’ compensation benefits. Liability estimates include death, disability, medical, and miscellaneous costs for
approved compensation cases. Estimates are based on the paid losses extrapolation method, calculated over the ensuing
23-year period. This method uses historical benefit payment patterns related to a specific incurred period to predict the
ultimate payments related to that period. Using the DOL’s actuarial projection, OST initially established FAA’s liability at
$725.3 million as of June 30, 1994. DOL adjusts this liability annually by applying actuarial procedures.

* Annual benefit payments have been discounted to present value, assuming the following interest rates:

for 1996, 7.00 percent in year 1 and thereafter;
for 1995, 7.10 percent in year 1, 6.60 percent in year 2, and 7.00 percent thereafter; and
for 1994, 7.00 percent in year 1 and thereafter.
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Note 14. Net Position:

A. Unexpended Appropriations
(1) Unobligated
a. Available
b. Unavailable
(2) Undelivered Orders
(3) Other:
Not Yet Appropriated

Total
B. Invested Capital

C. Cumulative Results
of Operations

D. Other

E. Future Funding
Requirements

Total

(Dollars in Thousands)
Aviation Aircraft
Operations Insurance Purchase
Trust General Revolving Loan Other
Fund Fund Fund Guarantee Funds Total
$(2,796,275) $ (263,818) $ - $ - $ (798) $ (3,060,891) (1)
4,582,094 366,891 - - 126 4,949,111
110,989 (2) - - - - 110,989
$ 1,896,808 $ 103,073 3 - $ - $ (672) $ 1,999,209
10,679,224 497,164 - 5 (888) 11,175,505
3,960,190 (3) 316,693 62,506 (©))] 30 4,339,416
(105,480) - - - - (105,480)
(2,225072) (4) _(1.677.028) (5) (16) (5) 2n - (3.902.137)
$ 14,205,670 $ (760,098) $ 62,490 $§ (19 $(1.530) $ 13,506,513

(1) The amount withdrawn biweekly from the Trust Fund is based on cash outlays, not obligational authority, to minimize
interest costs. In addition, the AIP has obligational authority, but has not yet received a liquidating cash appropriation.

(2) Represents appropriations not yet enacted for capital lease principal payments.

(3) Includes $4.13 billion of excise tax revenues transferred from the General Fund to the Trust Fund and invested in

Treasury securities. In prior years, the corresponding amount was reported as invested capital.

(4) Includes future funding requirements for capital lease principal payments, environmental remediation, providing ATC
functions to civilian users of the NAS system in the vicinity of closed DOD bases, and AIP grant obligations above
liquidating cash appropriations already enacted.

(5) Includes future funding requirements for accrued compensated absences and other employee benefit programs and
recognized contingent liabilities for claims. (A portion of these contingent liabilities may be attributable to the Judgment
Fund or to FAA appropriations other than the Operations appropriation.)
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Note 15. Taxes:

(Dollars in Thousands)
Excise Taxes:
1996 1995
Passenger Ticket Tax $ 2,122,879 $ 4,767,634
Waybill Tax : 150,905 361,315
International Departure Tax K 128,380 232,952
Fuel Taxes 2.806 210,740
Total Tax Revenues $ 2404970 $ 5,572,641

Total FY 1996 tax revenues were $3.17 billion less than in FY 1995. This significant change was caused by the lapse of
excise taxes. See chapter 3 of the Annual Report for additional information on the expired taxes.

Note 16. Other Revenues and Financing Sources:

(Dollars in Thousands)

A. Other Revenues and Financing Sources

1996 1995
Gain on Materials and Supplies Valuations $ 240357 (1) § 258,161
Gain on Fixed Assets 35,256 32,367
Other Gains - (206)
Revenue Credited to Operations Appropriation 4,262 3,150
Revenue Credited to Miscellaneous Receipts 761 -
Aviation Insurance Premiums Credited to the
Aviation Insurance Revolving Fund 27 36
Total § 280.663 $§ 293508

(1) Gains result from various functions performed at the MMAC, such as making repairs and improvements, receiving
items returned from field facilities, fabricating specialty items, transferring parts, making transfers between accounts,
inspecting bins, and recognizing differences between actual costs and standard costs used in valuing materials and supplies.
Other valuation gains for operating materials and supplies result from regional adjustments. See Note 8, Operating Materials
and Supplies, Net. The OIG determined during the FY 1996 audit that FAA is not compliant with the SFFAS No. 3
requirement that valuation gains be treated as unrealized gains. Therefore, other revenues and financing sources are
overstated by $240 million. This revenue overstatement is partially offset by the recognition of realized losses from such
valuations. See Note 18, Other Expenses.

SFFAS No. 3 allows using standard cost only if that cost approximates historical cost. By FY 1998, FAA will value

operating materials and supplies by the moving weighted average method. This method will value operating materials and
supplies more accurately and will comply with SFFAS No. 3.
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(Dollars in Thousands)

B. Other Information

1996 1995
Amount of Tax Refunds and Estimated Tax Credits N (36.032) $ (38.862)
Total Transferred to General Fund $ (36,032) $  (38,862)
Transfers to FAA Appropriation Accounts (6.591.120) (7.352.382)

Total § (6627.152) $ (7.391.244)

OMB Circular A-34, Instructions on Budget Execution, dated December 26, 1995, requires payments between fund groups to
be recorded as obligations and an expenditure from the transferring account. In DOT, this involves expenditure transfers
from Trust Funds to General Funds. The amount of $6.6 billion includes $2.2 billion that represents expenditure transfers
from the Airport and Airway Trust Fund to the General Fund. The General Fund reflects the actual revenues and expenses
resulting from the expenditure transfers.

Note 17. Program Expenses:

(Dollars in Thousands)

Operating Expenses by Appropriation 1996 1995
Operations $ 4,739,877 $ 4,501,261
Facilities and Equipment 2,508,902 (1) 1,896,689
Research, Engineering and Development 233,495 243,637
Grants-in-Aid for Airports 1,664,931 1,833,809
Aviation Insurance Revolving Program 337 502
Aircraft Purchase Loan Guarantee Program - 1
Other Funds 50 (2) 70

Total $ 9.147.592 3 8475969

Operating expenses are the actual costs incurred in conducting each program for the reporting period. Operating expenses
exclude capital expenditures, interest expenses, and direct and indirect costs associated with the cost of goods sold and the
services rendered. Operating expenses are not necessarily the same as outlays (expenditures of cash), a term which is used in
many budget presentation documents. Obligations by major object class are discussed in chapter 3, Financial Highlights.
DAFIS cannot now disclose program expenses by object class.

OMB Circular A-34, Instructions on Budget Execution, dated December 26, 1995, requires payments between fund groups to
be recorded as obligations and an expenditure from the transferring account. In DOT, this involves expenditure transfers
from Trust Funds to General Funds. The General Fund reflects the actual revenues and expenses resulting from the
expenditure transfers.

Funds were appropriated to OST for paying to GSA the cost of space that is under GSA control and is occupied by all DOT
organizations. OST recognizes an operating expense for that portion of the cost that is derived from the General Fund. The
remaining $41.4 million is derived from the Trust Fund and is recognized as FAA’s operating expense.
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Items shipped from the WIHTC and the MMAC to regional facilities have been charged to operating expense when shipped.
This may have understated operating materials and supplies for the reporting period, if some items were not consumed in that
period. The FY 1996 DOT OIG audit disclosed this deficiency. During FY 1997, a baseline of regional items not yet
consumed will be established by conducting a nationwide inventory. Subsequently, at each fiscal yearend, FAA will
physically count all such items, and the dollar value will be included in the operating materials and supplies account.
Operating expense will be adjusted accordingly. In addition, some items that were shipped by regional facilities and that
should have been classified as work in process or completed property and equipment have been classified improperly as
operating materials and supplies. During FY 1997, FAA will review operating materials and supplies transfers and
shipments to ensure that items are properly classified. See Note 8, Operating Materials and Supplies, Net, and Note 9,
Property and Equipment, Net.

(1) Includes environmental remediation expenses which include: environmental cleanup; the fuel storage tank program;
environmental, occupational safety and health compliance; and energy conservation. Such remediation will bring FAA into
compliance with Federal, state, and local environmental and occupational safety and health regulations. Environmental
remediation costs are currently being reviewed. This review may disclose that such costs have been understated by

$310 million.

(2) Includes Facilities, Engineering, and Development; Other Ledger; expired Operations appropriations; suspense funds;
and deposit funds.

Note 18. Other Expenses:

(Dollars in Thousands)
Other Expenses 1996 1995

Loss of Fixed Assets $ 98,360 $ 170,978
Loss on Materials & Supplies Valuation 174,591 (1) 221,595
Allowance for Reparabie Materials & Supplies 122,826 (2) -
Discounts Lost 3 2
Increase/(Decrease) FECA Actuarial Liability 101,322 10,886
Contingent Liabilities for Claims 320,505 (3)
Aviation Insurance - Annual Leave Expense - (4) 3

Total $ 817.607 $ 403464

(1) Losses result from various functions performed at the MMAC, such as making repairs and improvements, receiving
items returned from field facilities, fabricating specialty items, transferring parts, making transfers between accounts,
inspecting bins, recognizing differences between actual costs and standard costs used in valuing materials and supplies, and
adjusting for damage to materials and supplies. Other valuation losses for operating materials and supplies result from
regional adjustments. See Note 8, Operating Materials and Supplies, Net. The OIG determined during the FY 1996 audit
that FAA is not compliant with the SFFAS No. 3 requirement that valuation losses be treated as unrealized losses. Therefore,
other expenses are overstated by $175 million. This overstatement of expenses is partially offset by the recognition of
realized gains from such valuations. See Note 16, Other Revenues and Financing Sources.

(2) SFFAS No. 3 allows using standard cost only if that cost approximates historical cost. By FY 1998, FAA will value
operating materials and supplies by the moving weighted average method. This method will value operating materials and
supplies more accurately and will comply with SFFAS No. 3.

An item is considered to be reparable if the repair cost does not exceed 65 percent of its acquisition cost. Reparable items are
written down to 35 percent of their acquisition cost.
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(3) An OMB interpretation of SFFAS No. 5 proposes requiring agencies to recognize an expense and a liability for the full
amount of an expected loss, whether payable from agency appropriations or from the Judgment Fund. Before FY 1996, FAA
did not recognize expenses arising from contingent liabilities associated with claims against FAA. Of such liabilities
recognized in FY 1996, approximately $16.8 million could be payable from agency appropriations and approximately

$303.7 million could be payable from the Judgment Fund.

(4) Annual leave for FY 1996 is appropriately classified as an operating expense and is recognized in Note 17, Program
Expenses.

Note 19. Extraordinary Items/Prior Period Adjustments:

(Dollars in Thousands})

A. Extraordinary Items:

Trust Fund Appropriations $ (222,584)
Total $ (222,584) (1)

B. Prior Period Adjustments:

Trust Fund Appropriations b 638,309 (2) (3)
Operations Appropriations (21.141) (2)
Total $ 617,168

(1) Reconciling the purchases-in-transit account balance to contract documentation (see Note 9, Property and Equipment,
Net) resulted in writing off $222.6 million. The material amount of this unusual and infrequent asset write-off warrants
separate disclosure.

(2) Efforts during FY 1996 to reduce the work-in-process account for completed capital projects and to properly reclassify
costs in the proper asset account disclosed that capital costs had been improperly charged to operating expenses in prior
periods. Prior period adjustments also include corrections of FY 1996 payments of prior year accrued expenses that were
improperly charged to FY 1996 operating expense. The FY 1996 beginning Net Position balances of the Trust Fund
(facilities and equipment) and the Operations appropriations were credited $71.9 million and $21.1 million respectively. See
Note 9, Property and Equipment, Net

(3) The FY 1996 beginning Net Position of the Trust Fund Corpus was adjusted by $710 million to reconcile with the
Treasury custodial accounts as of September 30, 1996.
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Note 20. Nonoperating Changes:

(Dollars in Thousands)

A. Increases: 1996 1995
(1) Transfers In $ 32,120 $ 351,806
(2) Donations & Other Capital 1,873 817
(3) Other 3.736.889 6.195.647
(4) Total Increases - 8§ 3.770.882 $ 6548270

B. Decreases:

(1) Transfers Out $ (32,145) $ 351,806
(2) Donations & Other Capital (780) -
(3) Other (4.659.922) 3418453
(4) Total Decreases $ (4.692.847) $§ 3.770,259
C. Net Nonoperating Changes $  (921,965) $ 2.778.011

Note 21. Other Disclosures:

Contract Negotiations. FAA has a total of $165.3 million in commitments (funds reserved for possible future obligations)
under unexpired Facilities and Equipment, and Research, Engineering, and Development appropriations, for purchases of
goods and services for which contract negotiations have not been completed (i.e., agency obligations had not been incurred)
at the end of FY 1996.

Contract Options. As of September 30, 1996, FAA had $1.59 billion in contract options that, if exercised, would require
the obligation of funds in future years.

Letters of Intent. FAA has authority under 49 U.S.C. 47110(e) to issue letters of intent (LOI) to enter into AIP grant
obligations; but LOIs do not create obligations. FAA has issued LOIs covering FY 1988 through FY 2008 in the aggregate
amount of $2,112 million. FAA had obligated $1,294 million of this total from FY 1988 through FY 1996, leaving

$818 million unobligated as of September 30, 1996. FAA anticipates obligating $198 million in FY 1997.

AIP Grants. In prior fiscal years, FAA disclosed the amount of outstanding AIP grant obligations for which liquidating
cash appropriations had not been enacted. Of the AIP grant authority that FAA apportioned in FY 1996, $61.9 million
remained unobligated as of September 30, 1996. This amount remains available for obligation through September 30, 1998.

Sunday Premium Pay. The U. S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit ruled that Federal employees who were regularly
scheduled to work on a Sunday but instead took paid leave (annual, sick, or other excused absence) were entitled to Sunday
premium pay for leave hours, under 5 U.S.C. 5546(a) (Armitage v. United States, 991 F.2d 746 (Fed. Cir. 1993)). This
decision made FAA liable for retroactive payments for the 25 percent Sunday premium, including accrued interest, to those
who took leave on Sunday when they had been scheduled to work. There is a 6-year statute of limitation for back-pay
claims. As of September 30, 1996, a total of $33.3 million had been paid through negotiated settlements to or on behalf of
30,000 current and former FAA employees. No FY 1996 appropriations were used to pay any portion of the back pay
liability because the FY 1996 DOT Appropriations Act prohibited using FY 1996 funds to pay Sunday premiums unless
work was actually performed. As of September 30, 1996, unpaid claims attributable to years for which appropriation
accounts have been closed amounted to $287,590. These would have been payable from FY 1996 funds under 31 U.S.C.
1553(b)(1), but for the limitation on the FY 1996 DOT Appropriations Act that prohibited that payment.
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Note 22. Contingencies:

Legal Proceedings. FAA recognized contingent liabilities of $320.5 million for certain claims. Such claims are those that
have been brought to the attention of the OCC and that: (a) have been asserted, or, if not yet asserted, in the opinion of the
OCC are more likely to be asserted than not; (b) in the opinion of the OCC are more likely to be paid than not; and (c) for
which OCC can estimate the probable payment. The maximum exposure associated with such claims is $30.9 billion.
Therefore, FAA’s exposure to loss for such contingent liabilities in excess of the amount recognized is $30.6 billion. Total
exposure may have been understated because the stated amount does nat include contract, personnel, or other claims
processed without OCC involvement. It is unknown whether such claims represent a material amount. Action will be taken
during FY 1997 to estimate the amount of claims being processed by organizations other than OCC.

Aviation Insurance Program. FAA may issue aircraft hull and liability insurance under the Aviation Insurance Program
for certain air carrier operations. FAA’s authority to issue insurance is limited to situations where commercial insurance is
not available on fair and reasonable terms and where the operation to be insured is necessary to carry out the U.S.
Government’s foreign policy. No claims for losses were pending as of September 30, 1996.

The categories of insurance issued by FAA are: (1) premium insurance, for which a risk-based premium is charged to the air
carrier; and (2) non-premium insurance. Non-premium insurance, which represented all of the insurance issued by FAA in
FY 1996, is issued for air carrier operations under contract to or on behalf of a U.S. Government agency, provided that the
agency has an agreement with FAA to indemnify FAA against all losses covered by the insurance. FAA maintains standby
non-premium war-risk insurance policies for 48 air carriers having approximately 936 aircraft available for Defense or State
Department charter operations.

FAA normally insures only a small number of air carrier operations at any time. Airspace and airport capacity in areas where
FAA insurance coverage would apply is usually very limited, so that FAA expects to be able to terminate insurance coverage
and/or insured air carrier operations in high-risk areas after the loss of no more than two aircraft. Thus, probably no more
than two FAA-insured aircraft could be lost before the FAA exercises its regulatory authority to stop flights to the area of
loss. FAA establishes maximum liability for losing one insured aircraft at the limit of commercial insurance that applied to
that aircraft before FAA issued its insurance. This liability covers third party losses. In many cases FAA’s maximum
liability is $1 billion; usually it is less. Assuming a loss of not more than two aircraft per year, the maximum expected
insurance liability for any year would be $2 billion. Therefore, the range of possible liability to FAA is between zero and

$2 billion. Since inception of the program (including the predecessor Aviation War Risk Insurance Program, dating back to
1951), only four claims, ranging from $626 to $122,469,